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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the "Company” or “E Lighting”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

E Lighting, a listed company with its business rooted in Hong
Kong and also one of the most established retail chain groups
of lighting and household products in Hong Kong, is committed
to the sustainable development of the environment and society
and is devoted to social responsibility. During the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Financial Year”), E Lighting has participating
in several events launched by charitable institutions and has been
honoured a “Caring Company” for nine consecutive years.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

With the continuous widespread of the coronavirus pandemic
(the “COVID-19") in 2022, and the prolonged implementation of
travel restrictions and social distancing measures, the economic
activities in Hong Kong were severely affected which disrupted
supply chains and changed consumption habits. The lockdowns
have negatively affected the consumer market in the Financial
Year.

Despite the extremely challenging business environment,
E Lighting has continued to promote its existing business
development. E Lighting will maintain a flexible and tailored sales
and marketing strategy to offer its consumers with diversified
and modern choices by accurately procuring the suitable products
for the domestic market, which will in turn reinforce E Lighting’s
leading market position. In the meantime, the Group is actively
developing smart home and related products and closely looking
for new opportunities for those businesses.
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Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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Dear Shareholders,

| present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 (the “Financial Year").

This Financial Year was a year full of challenges and
opportunities for E Lighting. The COVID-19 pandemic have led
to continuous diminishing consumer spending momentum, and
the retail markets experienced a difficult operating environment.
To address the change in market condition, the Group took
proactive measures to strengthen cost and cash flow control
measures. In addition, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities and
expanded its business. The decline in global infection rates and
mass vaccination programs around the world have shed some
light on the situation. The Directors expect a recovery as social
distancing rules and all anti-epidemic measures have been
lifted. The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, timely adjust its product strategies and actively
carry out promotion activities, maintain pragmatic approach
for its business and take every chance to identify any suitable
opportunity in the market for the Group. Optimistically, with the
sound effects from the Consumption Vouchers Scheme in April
2023, | believe that the Group’s overall performance will have
improvement in the second half of 2023.

During the Financial Year, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$78,927,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 5.9% from approximately HK$83,891,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the local epidemic in the retail
market.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$78,903,000, accounted for approximately 99% of the
Group’s revenue, representing a decrease of approximately 5.4%
from approximately HK$83,420,000 as compared with that of
the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the tableware, giftware
and other business was approximately HK$24,000, accounted
for approximately 1% of the Group’s revenue, representing
a decrease of approximately 94.9% from approximately
HK$471,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$42,308,000 and recorded a loss of
approximately HK$6,845,000. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's
net assets were approximately HK$20,200,000.
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CEO'S STATEMENT 47 Bk 48 & 3 &

The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, maintain pragmatic approach for its business, and
take every chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the
market for the Group.

Lastly, | hereby express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
investors, business partners, staff and customers on behalf of E
Lighting. In spite of the challenges ahead, E Lighting will step
forward with ambitious entrepreneurship to reward for the
continuous supports from all parties.

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
Founder and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label
furniture

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label furniture is the
core business of the Group. Being one of the most established
retail chain groups of lighting products in Hong Kong, E
Lighting possesses rich experience in the sale of quality lighting
and designer label furniture products from all over the world.
During the Financial Year, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$78,903,000, accounted for approximately 99% of the
Group’s revenue.

Tableware, giftware and other business

Tableware, giftware and other business is mainly for wholesale
of tableware, giftware and other trading worldwide, which has
expanded the Group’s business portfolio, and broadened its
source of income and generated additional cash flows.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the business in tableware,
giftware and other business was approximately HK$24,000,
accounted for approximately 1% of the Group's revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 3% [ & & K 2 #7

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Directors foresee that the Hong Kong retail market remains
challenging, retail market would continue to be affected by the
development of post-local epidemic in the near term. The Group
will closely monitor the trend of the business environment,
maintain pragmatic approach for its business and take every
chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the market for the
Group.

The Group will continue to concentrate on the consolidation of
its retail network, optimisation of product mix and intensification
of cost control, and will also continue to seize opportunities to
stabilise growth through cautious strategic planning.

In the meantime, the Group is actively developing smart home
and related products and closely looking for new opportunities
for those businesses.

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Financial Year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$78,927,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 5.9% from approximately HK$83,891,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the local epidemic in the retail
market.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the retail chain business
in lighting and designer label furniture was approximately
HK$78,903,000, representing a decrease of approximately 5.4%
from approximately HK$83,420,000 as compared with that of
the preceding year.

During the Financial Year, revenue of the tableware, giftware
and other business was approximately HK$24,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 94.9% from approximately
HK$471,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$42,308,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 8.5% from approximately HK$46,239,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year. The decrease was
primarily due to decrease in sales and gross profit margin. During
the Financial Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 53.6%.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s selling and distribution
expenses was approximately HK$28,318,000, representing
an increase of approximately 3.3% from approximately
HK$27,422,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.
Selling and distribution expenses primarily consists of rentals for
retail outlets and related expenses, depreciation on right-of-use
assets, staff costs (including salaries and sales commission to
salespersons) and electronic payment charges. The increase was
primarily due to increase in depreciation on right-of-use assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 JE &1 & M 5

Administrative and Other Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s administrative and other
expenses was approximately HK$17,094,000, representing
an increase of approximately 11.2% from approximately
HK$15,373,000 as compared with that of the preceding year.
Administrative and other expenses primarily consists of rentals
for warehousing facilities, depreciation of right-of-use assets of
office premises and warehousing facilities, staff costs (including
salaries to administrative staff and emoluments to Directors) and
professional expenses. The increase was primarily due to increase
in depreciation of right-of-use assets and staff costs.

Loss/profit for the Year

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$6,845,000
during the Financial Year (2022: profit of approximately
HK$2,395,000).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES

(i) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai
Shop:
On 8 July 2022 (after trading hours), Element Lighting
Design Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Win Data Limited
as landlord to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the
“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop”).

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

Principal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Wanchar Shop.

EX )

a e v el EEL N

Effective date:
B

Parties:
HESE

Premises:

E

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE :

1 August 2022
—ZE-__F)\A—H

(i)  Win Data Limited as landlord; and
(i) XRABRABWEAZEE) &

(i) Element Lighting Design Limited as tenant.
(i MARAERABDUER/ES) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.

EXTRHERBBEMRINDE  TERFREEK -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner (Mr. Fung Yui Sum) is the parties independent of and not
connected with the Company and its connected persons (the “Independent Third
Party(ies)”).

NEEEMAMAE UKEBMEERESH XX MERKEEAUSRKRLELE)
&E%%Eﬁ?&%ﬁ)\ﬂ%%iﬁ$ AREBERATAAREMERENAL (B

SNE=ZFHI) e

Shop A, G/F, Tak On Mansion, Nos. 32-34 Morrison Hill Road, Hong Kong.
B G ERE LE32-345 B R EH TAH

Two years from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2024 (both days inclusive).
BE_Z-__FNA-HBZ_Z_MF+LtA=+—H(BEEEMX) RHMF -

Not less than HK$2,208,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

NMER2,208,0008 7T - IMFHANEG ARLAE LB (TREZM -
B HEEAREMIH) -

=N E R

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPABBANBERE AN HENE -
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Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Wanchai Shop:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai
Shop (including the rental charge) were determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties and with
reference to the open market rent of comparable properties
in the nearby districts and the rental payment made by the
Group under the existing tenancy agreements. The Board
considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Wanchai Shop were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

Koy i

EEEFHHEG#A I i -

HRREBRETEXH ZHEER K
SEATKREETEEMTLEE R

HEZVEREAREZSE  EAKER

?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%iéL LS

E3EPE - ES Eﬁﬁ?iﬁ%%ﬁ
RFAX Iﬁ%ﬁﬁlm VR M
R

BEREFHcEEBR 2GR (BEES)
TR RSEMOIMEI LB EZ
AEMEHEHEMAKERBEREHEERZ
SNZHERATFHEREE -EFERAR
BEEEFHIEEBAEZGRDIRAEER
E%&*&%%@E#& A% 7 3R R RET

CBA iA@'ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ&hﬁz
% R



(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 58 & o 4T

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Wanchai Shop exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 July 2022.

Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse:
On 28 July 2022 (after trading hours), ELG Operations
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Associated
Development Company Limited as landlord to renew the
existing tenancy agreement for operation of warehouse
of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Warehouse”).

(ii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 3% [ & & K 2 #7

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse:
BEERECHE mEmE ZIR

Effective date:
ERBE

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:

ESE

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENRERE:

1 August 2022
—E-_FNA—H

(i)  Associated Development Company Limited as landlord; and

(i) MEBRAFUER/EE) K

(i)  ELG Operations Limited as tenant.
(i ERAKESEGRQARIERER) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.

FER—MEREBEMRINAR  TEREREZEK -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owners (Mr. Yeung Kwok Kin and Mr. Yeung Kwok Hong) are the
Independent Third Parties.

NREEMAME UKBAEREER XX WEREKEAABEBRELER
GEREE) RERKREaRBEAYARBYE=F -

Flat B, 3/F & Flat B, C & D, 14/F, Gee Chang Hong Centre, No. 65 Wong Chuk Hang

Road, Hong Kong
BEEMIISBEETHO3EBE K 14488, CRD=E

Two years from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2024 (both days inclusive).
B_Z-__F N \A—BZ_Z_MF+LA=+T—H(BEEERX) RHAMF -

Not less than HK$2,611,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMER2,611,0008 7 IMFEEHANEAZAE B (T REEZM ERARERE
B HEREANHMXIE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

MPABEBAMBERRASNEERIE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Warehouse:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing
of retail stores and warehouse from time to time. It
would be beneficial to lease the said premises as it will
enable the Group to secure its stable operation at the
said premises without incurring additional costs and
expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating to other
warehouse and ensure that there will be no disruption to
the operations, business and growth of the Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse
(including the rental charge) were determined after arm’s
length negotiations between the parties and with reference
to the open market rent of comparable properties in
the nearby districts and the rental payment made by the
Group under the existing tenancy agreements. The Board
considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Warehouse were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse is regarded
as acquisition of asset by the Group for the purpose of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Warehouse exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 July 2022.
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(iii) Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok Shop:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 3% [ & & K 2 #7

(iii) EAREEDS

Mongkok Shop Premises 1 REAEYE—
On 26 October 2022 (after trading hours), Major Will RZE-—F+A-+B(XFEEE) -

Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant finalised the terms with Paradon Investment Limited
as landlord to enter a tenancy agreement for operation of
retail store of retail business of the Group (the “Tenancy
Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 1"”).

Major Will Limited (R RRIZEHBAF])
ERHEPEEBRIRERRAR (XX BT
MEBZER LI LHEBZIEAER
ETEEEB2TEEH(EAFEYE—
ZHEm#E] -

Principal terms of the Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Fremises 7.
HEAFY % —HE [ 89F Z1F -

Effective date:
HMHEE

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises 1:

/ES

Term:

HHE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE :

1 January 2023
—E-_=%—H—H

(i)  Paradon Investment Limited as landlord; and

(i) BBREREERAAEREE) K

(i) Major Will Limited as tenant.
(i)~ Major Will Limited ({fEBFFP) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.

EIRHERBBEMAINAR  TEREREZER -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the landlord and its respective ultimate beneficial owners
(Ms. Leung Choi King and Mr. Ho Kwok Sum) are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEERMAE TEBABEAEEN X  HREAARERLLE RAH
REE) REGREGHEBEAYREBYIE =7 -

Shop No. 1 on Ground Floor, Kar Wong Building, Nos. 639, 641, 641A, 643 & 645,
Shanghai Street and No. 1H Fife Street, Kowloon

JLBE £ H6395% « 64158  641A5% « 64358 M6455 MR E A THR KL E b T 158
i

Two years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
BE-Z-=Ff—A—HAZ-_ZT-_NF+_A=+—H(BEEEMX) BHRF -

Not less than HK$2,070,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEF2,070,0008 T - IMFHBAGAERESRBM(TREEZM EARER
E HEEERALHMXE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HEAEBANBERZAXNHEERNE -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
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Mongkok Shop Premises 2
On 26 October 2022 (after trading hours), Major Will RIBEZZF+AZT+NEH(XGERE) -
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant finalised the terms with Oceancity Development
Limited as landlord to enter a tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the
“Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 2").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

EARBYE=

Major Will Limited (KRR Z &N B A A
ERMHPEEEERABRAR (EX) BT
HEBRER UL HERBIEAEE
BETEEEBzTEEF((HEARYE=
ZHERBZE]D -

FPrincipal terms of the Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Fremises 2.
HEAFYE —HE a9 F 218

Effective date:
EMBE

Parties:
RV

Premises 2:

EVE

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE:

1 January 2023
—E_=%—H—H

(iii) Oceancity Development Limited as landlord; and

(i) BEERBEBRAFTDUER/EL) K

(iv)  Major Will Limited as tenant.
(iv)  Major Will Limited ({fE5F ) o

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.

XX R MERBBEIMRINDE  TERFRERK -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the landlord and its respective ultimate beneficial owners
(Ms. Leung Choi King and Mr. Ho Kwok Sum) are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEERMAAGE TEBMEAEEN  ¥F  HREAAN(RERL L RAE
REFE)RERKRERBEBEAARBILE=7 -

Shop No. 2 on Ground Floor, Kar Wong Building, Nos. 639, 641, 641A, 643 & 645,
Shanghai Street and No. 1H Fife Street, Kowloon

JLEE LB 163958 ~ 64157 - 641A5R « 64357 M6455% MR E A 1HE REL &2 i 25k
i

Two years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
E-ZE-_=ZF—A—HEZE-Z-_WNF+-A=Z+—H(BEEERK) BHRF -

Not less than HK$2,070,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEF2,070,000/8 T - AIMERBAGAERHSRH(TREEZM  =HAREE
E HEEEALHMXE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.
MPESRAIERRANHEERRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 7 K 2 4T

Reasons for and benefits of Tenancy Agreement of
Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and Tenancy Agreement
of Mongkok Shop Premises 2:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing
of retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial
to lease the said premises as it can create synergies with
the Group’s existing retail network. It will also enable the
Group to expand its retail network and lay the foundation
for future growth in the long term.

The terms of Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop
Premises 1 and Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop
Premises 2 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Tenancy Agreement
of Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and Tenancy Agreement of
Mongkok Shop Premises 2 were entered into on normal
commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Tenancy
Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and Tenancy
Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 2:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and
Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 2 are
regarded as acquisitions of assets by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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(iv)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 58 & o 4T

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok
Shop Premises 1 and Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok
Shop Premises 2 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transactions constitute discloseable transactions of the
Company, and are subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 October 2022.

Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop
103:

On 6 January 2023 (after trading hours), Good Harvest
Surplus Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung
Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as agent
for the owner to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the
“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 103").

(iv)

AR ASYE —KHEAEYME_—_2AE
WE TETZHEOR S ZERE L E (E
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EEYVHI103FHE 2 HEWHS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 3% [ & & K 2 #7

Principal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 703
BESDHI03RHZ HE [z F ZIEH -

Effective date:
ERAE

Parties:
HESPE

Premises:

E S

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

AR ERE:

18 January 2023
—ZE==%—A+N\H

(i) Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FHREMEGHELREE)RERRAFAEREIREAN) &

(i)  Good Harvest Surplus Limited as tenant.

(iy ELRERAFUE/ER) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

EXIRBAR—BRBEBTMRUNAG  FEREMENRE  TRNBEME
BERABRRAR (ZBROPRBRZAER LT (RHKSE - 16)) W2 EWBRF « $%
EMEERBERAFIRMERKEGA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEEMAME TKEMEAREEN  (XFRBA VEERKEAAREZE
WERRERBEEADRBIE=7 -

Shop No. 103 on level 1 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BEAFRD BB ESIKI1385 1103574

Two years from 18 January 2023 to 17 January 2025 (both days inclusive).
BEZZ-_=F—A+TN\AZEZZE-1F—A+tH(BEEEMX) BHMF -

Not less than HK$1,984,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TEFA$1,984,000/8 7 - BIMFHANGARERHEHSBE(TREEZEN =FALE
BE HEBALHEMXE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

BPAEBANERZAXNBEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 10% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MPMASNEGAFEINEEEHS  AHEFPREENAOZMERREBHME
T RABKRANI0% (NMEERIDR) BHEAEREEHN S -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 103:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 103 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 103 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 103:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 103 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 103 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 6 January 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 7 K 2 4T

(v) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison (v) BEEEFNELEH20E2HERZ

Shop 20:

On 11 January 2023 (after trading hours), Element Lighting RZBE-_=F—A+—RH(XH5EKHE)
Design Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) REAZRTER AR (AR A 2EHERR])
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Knight Frank EATHPBRAEN AR AR (EXRIEA)HE
(Service) Limited as the attorney of the owner to renew the FTEEGR LWEEREAHERSEIIEAE
existing tenancy agreement for operation of retail store BETEEEB 2EEEH((EEENE
of retail business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy B0 2 E =D °

Agreement of Morrison Shop 20").

FPrincipal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 20.
BEENEEFH205.2 HE A F Z KA -

Effective date:
A

Parties:
HEPE

1 March 2023
—E-_=%=A—H

(i)  Knight Frank (Service) Limited, as attorney of the owner; and

(i) HRGBERAFUER/EEIREA) R

(i)  Element Lighting Design Limited as tenant.
(i) MEARFAERABDUERES) -

The attorney of the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally
engaged in provision of nominee service.

FIRBAR—HERBEEEIMALNAGF  TERERIBARE -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the attorney of the owner and its respective ultimate
beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.

NEZEERAMAE IKRBAEAEEN FIRBEARERRESHEAANLR
BNE=T7

The owner is Chi Hong Ching Yuen Limited, a company limited by guarantee
without a share capital incorporated in Hong Kong and is an approved charitable
organization. The principal activities of the owner are the promotion of Buddhism
and related matters as well as operating the Chi Hong Primary School and
properties holding.

FEREMFRARAF  —KREBTMEUINBERANERETERR AR
RABZEEB - ZINTEXBRLAGEHELEEEE  BREEEEMERED
BB -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the founder members of the owner are Sik Chee Hoi, Sik Sui
Tung, Sik Sui Yung, Sik Sui Cheung, Sik Sui Hang, Sik Chun Ming and Lum Ling
Chun, all of whom are Independent Third Parties.

NEESAME WEBMESESH ZXNENKERBEE BhA B
nRt - BInt  BiG(T BERAKMBE HRBLE=FH-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

FPrincipal terms of Renewal of 7Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 20.
BEENE B0 HE 70 F ZEAL -

Premises:

ER

Term:

HHE

The aggregate value of
consideration payable:

ENHRERE:

Shop B1, 20-30 Morrison Hill Road, Hong Kong
BB EFE 1L #E20-3055B 14

Two years from 1 March 2023 to 28 February 2025 (both days inclusive).
BE-Z-_=f=-A—AZ-_ZT-_AF-_A=-1+/\B(BEEEMX) BHMFE -

Not less than HK$1,728,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MEM1,728,00008 7T - MFHAAGARAHEAH(TEEEZM  =ANRERE
B HEEREARHEMXIL) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAZBANBERIZANBEERA -

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Morrison Shop 20:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison
Shop 20 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Morrison Shop 20 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

BEEFIE 118205 2 HE 352
A REzw -

HAREBRLTELEB I HEFER &
EEATEREETEEHTIEE R -
HEZVEBFEAEBEZE  FAEERN
REMERGBIBTLE NAFTEASER -
RERBBEFTEEHMAESEIRA
RN WHRAEENLE EBRE
BREh -

EEENREIEM205 2 HE W& Z &K
(BHEEE) TR E2EHTME A
hEMEz 2 RMSEE RAKERIER
EHERBINZEHSBRATERETE
EZeRREEENR ILEM0RCHEE
Whad < AR TIITRAREBEE M —REHB
BRR-—RERGRAT L BAYFARE
YHEARRARBERZ BB
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(vi)

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 20:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 20
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Morrison Shop 20 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 11 January 2023.

Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop
345:

On 17 January 2023 (after trading hours), 228 Inc Limited
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as tenant has
finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung Kai Real Estate
(Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as agent for the owner
to renew the existing tenancy agreement for operation of
retail store of retail business of the Group (the “Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 345").

(vi)

BEEEFIE L BH205 2 HE HzR
GEM_ETTARIE T 2 %% -
BRIEBEBTBMBREEAFEI6H[HE]
ARABREFEVFERARRNEREBEZY
XEENTRBEEENEE - Bt - RIE
GEMLETHR AN - EEFEFE L EFH205R 2
HEWRHAERAEEWEEE -

HREBEEMNEILEMOE2HERZ
THEFTZANRZZERED LR (T
BGEME M BI5819.071§) HiB5% 18 &
R25%  ZRXPERARBZBETFTHEER
5 BETHRRASHEEERREST
f& AL AERE -

HEF2HANARRBEHR/R T _=F
—At—HHRE-

EFVHE3MSHHE 2 EER S ¢

RZBEZ=F—A++tH(XZHEE)
228 Inc Limited (AR B2 EWBAR)E
AEEEmE (HERHE)REERAR
(RTXTREANBTEEKRR UWEEHA
HEMRIEAEEBETZSEEK 2ZEE
F(EEPM34SHEG2HERH]D -

Principal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 345

BEY 3455 8 2 THE i A 21K -

Effective date: 14 February 2023

A EE —E-=ZF-F+I@H
Parties: (i)
HESNE owner; and

Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the

(i) FHREMEFHELREE)REERARAEREIREA) &

(i) 228 Inc Limited as tenant.

(i) 228 Inc Limited {EATF) -
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Premises:

EX

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

RS EHRE :

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 32 [Z & i M o #7

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

FIRBAR—FHRBBIMALARRE  FTEREMEEE  TAFIBEME
BRERLQA (ZBROHPRERZAERLES (BROMRR : 16)) W2 ENB AR - 3%
EMEERERAGIRMERKERA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEEZMAMGE LEEMEAEENR EIREA MESKABARESRA
NERRERBAEANGRBILE=T °

Shop No. 345 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BEAFRD BB ESIR138531E34558 4

Two years from 14 February 2023 to 13 February 2025 (both days inclusive).
BE-Z-_=F-_A+HAZ-ZE-_AF-_A+=-H (BEEEMK) BHMF -

Not less than HK$1,917,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEH$1,917,0008 7 - I FEHBAANGAEAHS BB (TEEZN  EARE
BE HEEERALRHEMH) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HMPRAEAANBERZAXNHEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’'s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MPMEASNSAENEEERS  APRERENAGOZYERREBISG
BREKANIS% (TEERNR) BE B AERHEHENEHE -

SHRPAEEERERAT 2022/23F 8K
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Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 345:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 345 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 345 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 345:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 345 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 345 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 17 January 2023.
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BEENHMFH M E % 2 B/
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HAREBRLTELER I HEFER K
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MEZYWELEAEETE  FAEERN
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RERBBEFTEERMAESEIRA
RN IHRAAEENLE EBRE
BTEFH -

EEPHE3MSHEHcHERZE 2GR (B
ME) DHATHTE2EHTE LR
MEZAATSHEHERAREREREEHE
EMEXNZIECRATHEREE -EF
SRREB/BIPEMSRHZEER R Z I
RN AEERAE R —REHBEFZ—
MEBEERETL BRAFAE XA
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FEY H3459 5 < 1 E 1% 75 RGEM
ETAERIE T2 %2
BIEEBW B HREERE165% [HE] -
AABREFEVFERARRNEREBEZY
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GEMEMRA EEN H3MSHE2HE
HEEREASEWBEEE -

MR EEDPHEMSHEG2HE Rz T#
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5 BETHRRASHEEERREST
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HEF2HANARRBEHRR/R T _=F
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(vii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop (vii) EEVH336EH2HEWS -

336:

On 15 February 2023 (after trading hours), Central Sky RIZBE-_=F_A+HH(X5FEXE) -
Holdings Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the FREZEBRBRAR (ARF2EWEB AT
Company) as tenant has finalised the renewal terms with ERBEME (HERHEE)REBARA
Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency F(EFREBAETEEKRS  UEEHR
Limited as agent for the owner to renew the existing BHEWMHIEAERETSZSEERK 2 ZE
tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail E((EED H33eHM B ERE] -

business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement

of Shatin Shop 336").

Principal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336.
BESHICR A HE A FEIFHL -

Effective date:
B

Parties:
HESVRE

Premises:

ZE

Term:

HE

20 March 2023
—E-_=4=F=+H

(i)  Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FHREWEGELREE)REBRAREREIREA) K

(i) Central Sky Holdings Limited as tenant.
iy HRREIEBBRAR(EABER) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

FIRBAR—HRBBIMALARR  FTEREMEEE > TAFIBEME
FRERLQA (ZBROHPERZAER LS (BRORR : 16)) W2 ENB AR - 3%
EMEERERAFIRMERKEGA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEEZMAME LEEMEAEEHR EXIREA MESKAEBANRESRA
NERRERBAEANGRBILE=T °

Shop No. 336 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BEAFRD BB EZI138531E336504H

Two years from 20 March 2023 to 19 March 2025 (both days inclusive).
B4 =ZA_+HRAE-_Z_AF=A+ILA(BEEEMX) BHMF

SHRPAEEERERAT 2022/23F 8K
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Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336.
BES A6 HE w9 F EIEH -

The aggregate value of Not less than HK$3,307,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
consideration payable:  term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
ERRERAE - promotion levy and all other outgoings).
MME$3,307,0008 7T - BIMFEHBAGARRH BB (T REEZM ZALE
BE HEBRARHEMZH) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

MPABEBAMERRANEERIE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds

30

the basic rental.

BETA#SNEARINERBES BEPRESRERNANDZMERREBMAE
BB AI5% (NMEEEIE) BHEAEAHENEH -

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 336:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 336 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 336 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.
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Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 336 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 15 February 2023.

(viii)Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison

Shop 48:

On 8 March 2023 (after trading hours), RS Holdings Limited
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as tenant
finalised the renewal terms with Mori Investments Limited
as landlord to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the
“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 48").

FEY H3365 # < 1 E 1% i3 KRGEM
ETHRIE T Z %2
BRETSMEREENE16HAE] -
AKARRGAETBRARANERBEZYD
XN EREEENER - Bt BIK
GEMEMMRE - EEN H336H M HE
HEERIEAEBRBEE -

MR EEYDPHEEG 2B E e T#E
AN zEBES LR (TER
GEM E R BI$19.071§) HBiB5% B K P
25%  ERPERARRZAFHER
5 ABETHEREAEETEEREES
BB AL AR E o

HERL2HERARTBERAE T _=F
“AtREHBRAE -

(Vi) EREFNE L EMHISR 2 HEWHE -

RZZBEZ=F=ZANB(XZHEEE) RS
Holdings Limited (A AR 2= EWEB A7) 1F
A&7 F # BEMori Investments Limited (¥
FIRTEEKT UWEEREHEHS
EREEETEEER  TEERH((EE
EFELEH4sTR s BEwE]) -
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FPrincipal terms of Renewal of 7enancy Agreement of Morrison SHhop 48
BEEE LB #4852 THE 75 69 F Z 8K -

Effective date:
ERAE

Parties:
HESPE

Premises:

/S

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

R ERE:

7 May 2023
—E-=FRAtH

(i) Mori Investments Limited as landlord; and
(i)  Mori Investments Limited ({fE&%F) : &

(i) RS Holdings Limited as tenant.
(i) RS Holdings Limited ({E BT ) ©

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged
in property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
International Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 163).

FIR—RREBIAMAILNRAAE  FEREFVEREER -XFTREEHKRSE
BEERARIZE2EMBAR  HIRHNBE M ER LT (RM K - 163) °

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

NEBZMAME URBMEAREEH FINESENRKESEFTALR
BNE=T5

Shop on G/F, 48 Morrison Hill Road, Hong Kong
FABEN B L BA8YR I T4

Two years from 7 May 2023 to 6 May 2025 (both days inclusive).
BE-Z_=FRAtLtHAZE-_ZE-_AFAAA(BREREMKR) BHNEF -

Not less than HK$1,452,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MEP1,452,0008 7T MM FHEPANGAELRAES LB (T EEEZM =HARER
E HEERALEMIUE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HEAEBANBERZAXNHEERE -
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Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Morrison Shop 48:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison
Shop 48 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Morrison Shop 48 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 48:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Morrison Shop 48
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Morrison Shop 48 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 March 2023.

BEEENEIEHISHEZHE HHEZ
FEH R

HRREBRKETEXHZHERER K
SEATKHREETEEMTLEE R
HEZVEREAREZSE  EAKER
ZEMEECSRTEE MIATE/SH
KERBBENTEEMNELEINKA
NAX EHRERANEENZE XK RE
RAEGHE -

EEENE B8 2 HE B E 2 &K
(BHEMEE) TEFIOFESEHTMEA
hEMEz 2 RMSEEE A KERIER
EHEBEXNZEERAFERERE
EZeRABEENEILBMHSTZEE
Wi ZEAR TR AREEE Rk —REHKB
BRZ—RERGRET L BAYVARIE
EHEARRARBERZEEH &

BEEEFEE 1) B 45485 < T & lp iz i
GEM_ETTARIE T 2% % -
BREBTSMEREENE16HRIAE] -
AKARRGAETBRARANERBEZYD
XN EREEENER - Bt BIK
GEMETREAI - EEEFE |LEHISTHE 2
HEBBRWEIELAEEREEE -

MREEENE LEHISE 2 HEmS
THEAZEAHNRZGZERED LR (T
BGEME R BI519.0715) HBiB5%18 X
R25% @ ZRXPERARBZBETFTHEER
5 BABETHEREAEETEEREEST
BB AL AR E o

HEF2HANARRBEHRR/R T _=F
=ANBHRE-
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Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant BRAEMETEIN N-_ZET-_=F=A=+—H0#
investments held as at 31 March 2023 nor material acquisitions EiFBEEMEAEE N REERENB LD
and disposals of subsidiaries during the Financial Year. ANEARKBLRLESE -

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS F(REEABRERBAETEREEN
OR CAPITAL ASSETS s E|

(i) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan (i) EEZEGEoHENS
Shop:
On 2 May 2023 (after trading hours), Lighting Connected RZE-Z=ZFRAEA-H (XR5BEEE)
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as REPEBEEGRAG (KAa2EMHB AR
tenant finalised the renewal terms with CDW Building YEA/FL P ECDW Building Limited (¥X)
Limited as landlord to renew the existing tenancy BEEEKS  NEEREHRERHIER
agreement for operation of retail store of retail business of SEETTEXR TEEH([EEEE
the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen HoMEEwmZE]) -
Wan Shop”).

Prinjgpa/*terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop:
BB T E ) F Z AR

Effective date: 22 June 2023

ABE R - ZEZ=FXA=Z+=H

Parties: (i)  CDW Building Limited Limited as landlord; and
HESDE (i)  CDW Building Limited ({fE/5% ) : &

(i) Lighting Connected Limited as tenant.
(i RABBERABUERES) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HKR International
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 480).

XFER—FRBAFMAINRE  FEZUHEYERETER EXTREBHEE
BREEBRARZEZEWMB AR - ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ’\ﬂﬁ*“ﬁﬁiﬁitm (foﬁﬂtfﬁ 480) °

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

WERESHAME URBMEAREEN XINESENERESERAALR

BNE=T7
Premises: Shop No. 310 of 3rd Floor, CDW Building, 388 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong
S g%g%%,%%mQE%388%)£43%7<F§3$§310%§$
Term: Three years from 22 June 2023 to 21 June 2026 (both days inclusive).
MEE BE_E_=FRNATZHBE_Z_R"FAAZT B (BEEEMR) REI=F -
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Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop:

EEZEGHEGANT ERFK -

The aggregate value of
consideration payable:

e RERE :

Not less than HK$1,150,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of three years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEF,150,0008 > BI=ZFHEANEAEAESAH (TEEEZW EAMEIE

B OHEEEANEMEIG) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAEBANBERZAXNBEERNE -

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan
Shop (including the rental charge) were determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties and with
reference to the open market rent of comparable properties
in the nearby districts and the rental payment made by
the Group under the existing tenancy agreements. The
Board considers that the terms of the Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

BEZEHHE A ZEH R -

HRREARETEXHZHEER K
SEATKHREETEERTLHEERE -
HEZDEREAREZE  EAKER
RZEMEEBRTEE MIRER/SR
KERBBEHTEEMMELBEINKA
KX WHERASEIZE EBRE
BRI g -

EREERoHERR G (BEES)
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AEMSEHERAEEREREHERZ
SXNZEERATVTHEBREE -EFERR
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YoBAVERE UNAARARERZ

PR

BEELEHHE HERGEM LT
AR T2 8% -
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(i)

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Tsuen Wan Shop exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constituted a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 2 May 2023.

Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay
Shop:

On 5 June 2023 (after trading hours), Urban Lifestyle
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with MegaBox
Development Company Limited as landlord to renew the
existing tenancy agreement for operation of retail store
of retail business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop”).

(i)

HREBEZEH 2 HERE TETZHEDY
RHpZBRBDEE(EERLGEMLET R

BIE19.0718) BB iB5%EEN25% » %X
GERARRZBATHEERS  BETH

BRAEREEEBRRETRRUERTE -

HERELHERARRBRAE T _=F
AAZHBRQE -

EFNEER2HEEHS

RZZE_ZFNAFER (XSEHEE)
Urban Lifestyle Limited (X 2 7 & & Kt B
‘A 7)) {E & F EEMegaBox Development
Company Limited (% %) # 7 S8 54K -
NEBREHERBEAEEET TE
¥y TEER(EENEER 2 HEER

%) -

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:

BENEERGZHEBAENT ZHFN -

Effective date: 23 June 2023

HHE —E-=FRAZ-+=H
Parties: (i)
HESNEE (i)

(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited as tenant.
(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited ({fE&TEF)

MegaBox Development Company Limited as landlord; and
MegaBox Development Company Limited ({fE&%F) : &

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kerry Properties
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock

code: 683).

EIR—HERBEEMEAINAAR  TEXENEREEZR XX R/RERREA
RARZz2EMBAR - ERMHNEBIAER LM (RO - 683) -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

NEEERAMAIE -
BYE=T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 58 & o 4T

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:
BENEEHHERHNTF ZRKA -

Premises:
E

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

Unit 6 on Level 5 of MegaBox, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
JUBE SRR & 7R PR 18 385 1 % £ 1558 MegaBox51£ 657 45

Two years from 23 June 2023 to 22 June 2025 (both days inclusive).
E-E - HRNAH+=ZHEZE = A-1+-_H(BREEEMX) BHME -

Not less than HK$1,992,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,

EMRRERE : promotion levy and all other outgoings).
TMEF1,992,0008 T - IRMFHBAGAEAHSRB(TEEEZN EARER
E HEEANHEME) -
Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.
HPRBEBANERE A NMHEERE -
The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’'s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.
HPTAZGNEARNEREES BEPRERNANZYERREREHE
FRBRANIS% (MMEEMHR) BEFAEREENERE -

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy BENEEG CHEGZ B NS

Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the BMARREELCULEELHK I MEFR  NEH
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of ZERKEHFHEESEEH#vHERS -HEZ
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to X BFTAEBETE FREFBRZE YR
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure EBETEE MAZEASK HELEKER
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring ¥ ZEEHMESBIINK AR X @ I R
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and SEEMEIE ¥ NERITSHH

relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be

no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the

Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 3% [ & & K 2 #7

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon
Bay Shop (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Kowloon Bay Shop exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 5 June 2023.

EBENEERZHERE 2GR (BREHE
) AT ESEWI R A LERY
XzrRAmSEEERASERBERAEE
BHERINCHEERATEREE -EFQ
AREBNREMIEEHZE ZEFTIN
AEERFELR—REBBRETE-—REE
GHRET - BATEE UWHEERRAFAR
BRRZ BN -

BB HE R GEM LT
HRE T2 52
REBEVBHRSEAFIHEEE] - &
RANEAMBARARNRANERBEZY
XEBNEREEENEE - Bt RIE
GEMLEMMRA - EENBEERH 2 HEwHH
WRERNREBREEE -

HREBNEEH 2 BERE TET2E
NXGzEAEBD LR (EERAGEMET
#}BIEE19.0715) B iB5% B K R25% @ #%
RPERARBIZBATHERS BB
HREASHEEERCETRELNER

F o

HEFLHARARFNBPR-_T_=F
NALBEHRE -

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no plan for material BRBMEEIN  WAERE  HEEME ER
investments or capital assets as at the date of this annual report. BB AERKEEMNTE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E &1 58 & o 4T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$9,938,000 (2022: HK$13,855,000). The
gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank borrowings
over total equity, was nil as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil), as the
Group mainly financed the operations from internally generated
funds and had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

The Group closely monitors the cash flow position to ensure
that the Group has sufficient working capital available to fulfill
its operational requirement. The Group takes into account the
trade receivables, trade payables, cash and bank balances,
administrative and capital expenditures to prepare cash flow
forecast to forecast the Group’s future liquidity.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. As financial
management, sales proceed is immediately deposit to reputable
and creditworthy banks to ensure security, liquidity and for
meeting future funding requirements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. As at 31
March 2023, there were 451,035,713 ordinary shares in issue.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$20,200,000 as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$27,045,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, save as otherwise disclosed, the Group did
not have any material contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

MEIMERVKE
RZEBE-_=ZF=ZRA=Z+—8"
N8R 1T 45 $2 #99,938,000/8 T (— T — — 4 :
13,855,000 7T) - AEBMERL E - ARTT
BEERERUEZEENE RZT=F=
A=+—BAE (- &) REAR
SEEZUABELENESFEAREENEE
B AR - ZE-=F=A=+—HIERT
BE(ZEZZF ) -

=

AEBMES

Z'»‘%%‘ﬂ%f’?ﬁim%ﬂk/ﬁ TR 7N £ B

ERARMABAZEES  AIUTAZERE -
ZIS%@EJr&JT%HﬁZmIE: FEfRIE - RE RIRTT

TR REAAELT  UREXSENES
//\Lii‘gﬁu TEORI R ££ B R 2R M B 1 o

B R
A ERIE A B E R RR
1 4 ARIE S ST BN IO B

HERMBE
BRIFHIRTT - A

BRZ2M RBUENBERLRESTE -
:K\Z'KII\D *ﬁ
AEBZENERREBRR NR_T_=F=

A=+—HBE#{1L®EA451,035713% -

R—_ZE-_ZF=ZA=+—8" Z!S”T%EJ\FE
1E#E 25 48 %8 4920,200,00008 T (Z &2 = =
27,045,000/ 7T ) ©

_21\\\/\1%\
R-T-ZF=A=+—8 BAFRREIN:
AEEWEEAEARREE (CB-—F &) -
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Euro, United States dollar and Renminbi,
hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. We are
mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation of the Euro
and Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to United States dollar. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises. The Directors are of the view that the
transactional exposure of the Group in currencies other than the
functional currencies is maintained at an acceptable level.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, there was no charges on the Group's
assets (2022: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND
The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Financial Year (2022: Nil).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total remuneration of the Group for the Financial Year
(including (i) Directors’ emoluments, (ii) salaries to staff and (iii)
MPF contributions) was approximately HK$20,212,000 (2022:
HK$19,115,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 46 employees (2022: 50
employees).

REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the
Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an
incentive for their contribution to the Group.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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=REREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, aged 56, was appointed as an executive
Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is the
chairman of the Board and head of human resources department.
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is also a director of several subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is responsible for the business
development, operations and business expansion plans and
human resources activities of the Group. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is
the younger brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond, the executive Directors.

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu has over 31 years of business management
experience and obtained a Bachelor of social sciences degree
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, aged 60, was appointed as
an executive Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is one of the founders and chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is responsible for the business development, operations
and devising market strategy and business expansion plans of the
Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is the younger brother
of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and the elder brother of Mr. Hue Kwok
Chiu, the executive Directors. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
is the director of Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond has over 31 years of experience in
lighting and furniture retails business in Hong Kong and obtained
a Bachelor of arts degree from the University of Hong Kong in
November 1985 and a Master of design degree from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 June 2015. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the chief
creative officer of the Group and responsible for the business
development of the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the elder
brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the executive Director,
and Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, the executive Director.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing has over 30 years of experience in product
design, design management and retail business management and
obtained Bachelor of arts degree in industrial design from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1989.

HITES
RS KE S6xc R ZT—WWE_-A -+
BEZTAARARAINITES -HHEEEARE

EZEEIRNMANEBRBIE -FHREELETR
ARAZEAMBRARZES FFESILERER
AEEMEBER ZBEREBERTIRA
NERES - HESEERRATERFELKSE
ERFFRISRTE 2

MEEERAENFEHREERLR IR

—ANANFET-_ARGEAABHENEE L
E\’fio

FFEBEE 60K N_T-—MHF_AZ+RX
FEZERARRAMITEFT FFEBRELER/AN

SEAIMA L —RITHEBS - 5THBEETA
RAARZHEMBARICES - TRHREEER
REBHOEBFRERE ZERBTEMS R RZE
BEFTEE - TR BAEERNTESTHE .
EZRBRFRGEEZBA - FRREER
NN BIE B ETime Prestige Ventures Limited
MWES -

THAREERBEABMARAETEEH T EE
BR3NFELR YR — L N\AEF+—AWESE
BREVELEBNIN -_Z—TF+— AEE
BAEBETREBRETELEA -

FERBEE 6 R _ZEZ—RHFAT+NH
BZARITES THELERETEEHEF

BAERENAEAEENERERR -FFEKSL
ERATEFHEAREERRTERFEI L
EZHS -

MEREERBBIFERKRA  RATEER
TEXEKERZER YR - N A\NAEREE
BETAREXNELEM - TETERS
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 59, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Chung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a Bachelor’s degree (honours) in social
sciences from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989
and a Master’s degree in international business management
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1998.

Mr. Chung became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 1995 and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom in November 1999.

Mr. Chung has around 33 years of experience in accounting,
taxation and finance. Mr. Chung is currently an independent
non-executive director of Net Pacific Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 5QY), the shares of which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and an
independent non-executive director of Shandong Fengxiang Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 9977), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (“Mr. Leung”), aged 57, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Leung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’s degree in social sciences from
the University of Hong Kong in December 1989, a Master’s
degree in business administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and the University of Manchester in July 2001
and a Master’s degree in business (logistics management) from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT
University) in September 2007.

Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute respectively.

Mr. Leung has over 32 years’ experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and company secretarial matters. He
worked for and held senior positions in various listed companies
in Hong Kong and was responsible for their finance, accounting
and company secretarial functions. Mr. Leung is currently the
company secretary of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1271), and an independent non-executive director of
Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1455),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

REREE(REED 7 R-_T—0F
NA+—BRZERBIUFNTES - REL
BEMAEEETHERR KRR -BRETR
FRIEERMEB T HE -
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MER)EL B -
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Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka (“Ms. Wong"”), aged 36, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 June
2023. Ms. Wong is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Wong has over 9 years of practice in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the founder and currently a managing
partner in ZM Lawyers. Further, Ms. Wong has served as a board
committee member and director of ZM Charity Fund since 2020,
as well as a legal consultant in Carbon Mining Technology
Limited since 2021.

Ms. Wong obtained her Bachelor of Laws Degree with minor in
Social Work and Social Administration from The University of
Hong Kong in November 2010. Ms. Wong has officially admitted
as a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong since December 2013 and is
a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chou Hing Yan Stephen (“Mr. Chou”), aged 60, was an
executive Director from 26 February 2014 to 29 February 2016
and employed as senior business manager on 1 March 2016.
Mr. Chou is one of the founders of the Group and responsible
for the business, operations and marketing affairs of the Group.

Mr. Chou has over 19 years of experience in lighting and
furniture retails business in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in commerce from McMaster University of Canada in June
1987.

Mr. Wong Peng Lin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 51, is the operation
manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group on 1
December 2003. He is primarily responsible for supervising the
day to day operation of the retail stores in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 18 years of experience in lighting retail business in the
Group.

Mr. Chang David (“Mr. Chang”), aged 53, is the product &
logistics manager of the Group. Mr. Chang joined the Group on
3 October 2012, he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product and logistics of the Group. Mr. Chang is also responsible
to oversee compliance with safety requirements of all lighting
and electrical products offered for sale at the retail stores,
monitor the latest development on safety requirements and
enhance closer communications between us and the suppliers in
respect of the safety and certification requirements for lighting
and electrical products in Hong Kong. Mr. Chang has over 26
years of experience in lighting business in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Lap Ming (“Mr. Tang”), aged 37, is the deputy
financial controller and company secretary of the Group.
Mr. Tang joined the Group on 17 November 2021, he is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial and daily secretarial
matters of the Group.

Mr. Tang graduated from Hong Kong Lingnan University with
Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 2001. He has around 16 years of experience in
accounting, auditing, company secretarial and tax consultancy
field.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERHME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance its corporate value.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”). To the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with the code provisions in the CG Code
during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”). The Company has made specific enquiries with all
Directors and the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company during the Financial
Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023)
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023)

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business,

family or other material/relevant relationship among members of
the Board.
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Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor
the implementation of these policies and strategies and the
management of the Company. The Group has an independent
management team, which is led by a team of senior management
with substantial experience and expertise in the Group’s business
and the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the Group’s policies and strategies.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”). All
minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

During the Financial Year, five Board meetings and one
general meeting were held in addition to circulation of written
resolutions. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

EESEE

SEEENIERERTELFUANRENER
X8 MOREE - DEBEIRBAENBERMAT
PA R BN R R IR 5 ER R AN SR BG B 07T B 32 B
FHESR EFEGRENTAEBER KRB
MBEDREET B EEBERK  ZEKH
—HEREEEARHAREXRBEERANEN
SREEEEY -

EE2SBNREEEER
REAQFRMEGERRAR ((ABERRAR])
RAEFANRGFHFLBEBEMETRES
ANETER -MEEFEERNERLBER
DHAMCEMAEEEERNEERGHE
RIE °

RAMBRFEE RTEHNEARER EFS
BITAREFEERER - ABRAE-UTE
BEEHFLENFE -

Attendance
i R
General meeting Board meetings
RERKXE ExeeE

Executive Directors
BITES
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) 11 5/5
RS (FE)
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer) 171 5/5
B9 (7TBAE#)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer) 171 5/5
HER(BFEEEAE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Chung Wai Man I7Al 5/5
EEX
Leung Wai Chuen 1Al 5/5
2ER
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) 11 5/5
BRERZZEZ=FA—HET)
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) N/A N/A

BEMMR _ZE_=F A —HEZE)

According to the code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the
chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors. The Company complied with the code provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code that the chairman of the Board held
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.

RIBCEEATAEC2METAIE  THEE
ELBFEBYFNTEFRT LB HM
EEZHENERE ARAEETEEERTH
FC2METRAIGN - EFE@XRFOAELEHAM
EENBEATHRBYFNTESRTER
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Two executive Directors, namely Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, have entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from
11 September 2022, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either party on the other,
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung
Wai Man and Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, have entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from
11 September 2022, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either party on the other,
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka, the independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a fixed term of two years from 1 June 2023, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

By virtue of article 83 of the Articles, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
every director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 84 of
the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he retires.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore,
among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chung and Mr. Leung have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules. In accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her
independence. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong to be
independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Financial Year, the role of the chairman of the Board is
performed by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company is performed by Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond. The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/ functions, while reserving certain key matters in making
strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates
aspects of its management and administration functions to
management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management need to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has arranged and/or introduced some
director’s training courses and has provided monthly financial
highlight, business update of the Group and training materials
for the Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and
skills.

During the Financial Year, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors and
officers of the Company that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the CG Code. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 11 September 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung. The other
members are Mr. Chung and Ms. Wong. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are mainly to oversee the relationship with
the Company’s external auditor, review the Company’s financial
information and oversee the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the consolidated results
of the Group for the Financial Year with the management and
is of the view that such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures had been made.

EERERBECER
ARBELHEERR  BEREB T AIEE
ReHBEERARAERBE ERTHY
R EREERBRE  HHEFaEEER
STR e REE Ty B FEITIR

BEREES
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Five Audit Committee meetings were held in addition to B TEEZERAZE EXZEeN AT HE
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. ER{TTHAXACx% CERNEXRLEC L=
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are  EXRMEEIBHT :
as follows:
Members Attendance
24 =
Leung Wai Chuen (Chairman) 5/5
RER(FE)
Chung Wai Man 5/5
EREX
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) 5/5
BRER_ZE-_ZFA—HEDT)
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) N/A

HFAMRZZZ=ZF A —BEZT)
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Financial Year:

1.  Financial Reporting

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in conjunction
with the external auditor and the unaudited financial
statements for 3 months ended 30 June 2022, 6
months ended 30 September 2022 and 9 months
ended 31 December 2022;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022;

reviewed the audit planning for the year ended 31
March 2023 in conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditor

reviewed and approved the remuneration of external
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023;

reviewed the re-appointment of external auditor
of the Company and was satisfied with its work,
its independence, and its objectivity, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited
(which had indicated its willingness to continue
in office) as the Group’s external auditor for
shareholders’ approval at the 2022 annual general
meeting;
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3. Internal Audit

o reviewed and ensured that the internal audit function,
performed by an independent external consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Adviser”), is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group; and

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls

° reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
reviewed regularly by management. With the view of enhancing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
during the Financial Year, the Company has engaged the Internal
Control Adviser to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and recommend actions to improve the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code for the Financial Year
in all material respects.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board on 11
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Chung. The other members are Mr. Leung and
Ms. Wong. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, amongst other things, to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management and to make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management.

Two Remuneration Committee meetings were held in addition
to circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year.

FMEES

ARAMFMEZE S ([FHEZEED) R _-F
—MFEAAT-—BEAREFEENT WEBREXE
BEATANIEEARERE FHEZBEERE
MEZBBUFRTEFAR  YHELREEE
TE CESKERREERTL L -HFMEER
ETIERR (AP ER) BRI AR ETRARE
BEENFMFEGR TAREMMERES
SREEBER URREZTRSRAEEEN
FMEMEBRRARRBRAESSRHEKEEER -

BRTEMEERER FHEEEN
E8EOTTMREH i

Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee [ERHFFEFHMT -

meetings are as follows:
Members Attendance
24 o E =
Chung Wai Man (Chairman) 2/2
EEN(EE)
Leung Wai Chuen 2/2
ZER
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) 2/2
BREWR-_Z-_=FA—H&MT
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) N/A
EAM(R_ZEZ=F A —HEZHF)

REMUNERATION POLICY N

The remuneration policy of the Company (the “Remuneration
Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
April 2022.

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group’s success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Remuneration Policy is built upon the principles
of providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration
package that support the performance culture and enable the
achievement of strategic business goals. The Remuneration Policy
is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but not excessive.

RABWHIEE ((HFEERR) CEESS B
B WA —E-——FMA—B 4%k

EABZRMBEEIRAEINAEREZETUK
DHEBEERE - REREAWRSIMEBEEAT
FWBRRELERRATFMAEEMSHFNH
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>

The remuneration structure is designed to ensure that there is an
appropriate balance of fixed and variable rewards, which include
both short-term and long-term incentives, and is weighted
towards performance-related elements that take into account
individual, functional and corporate performance. No one should
be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has been delegated to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and non-executive Directors.

The executive Directors are entitled to the remuneration
packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses. The
remuneration for the non-executive Directors comprises directors’
fee.

The objective of remunerating non-executive Directors is to
ensure that there is an appropriate level of remuneration to
attract and retain experienced people of high caliber to oversee
the Group's business and development. Their remuneration is
reviewed annually with reference to companies of comparable
business or scale, and any changes are subject to Board approval.

The Remuneration Committee shall review the Remuneration
Policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Remuneration Policy
annually. The Remuneration Committee shall discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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The remuneration packages of the Directors were determined by
reference to their experience, duties and responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market rate.

Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ remunerations were approved and revised by the Board
with effect from 1 January 2023. The remuneration of Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu was changed to HK$696,000 per annum. The
remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond was changed to
HK$2,400,000 per annum. The remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing was changed to HK$540,000 per annum.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by all shareholders by way of written
resolution on 11 September 2014. The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time and
part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company.

The Company believes that by offering the Eligible Participants a
shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the Eligible
Participants and the Company become aligning and thereby the
Eligible Participants have additional incentives to improve the
Company’s performance.

EEFMEADKREERE &R BELBE
RIBITHIZRFEMERE

KWRHEMEBBNARE Z B LB E &SR
Mg BTEESFMRESSHAEREBE B
T ZFE-ABEER -HFELAEZE
FHME EE 5696,00006 7T - AFEBELE T
FH D2 F 52,400,000 7T - AFE L 2
BEHFINEEF A540,0008 7T °
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION = E IR 2 2
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for RAMBEELYNSHREEBHMN TUTH
the Financial Year falls within the following band: :
Number of
individuals
ATHEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T 4
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RBEESE

The Board is empowered under the Articles to appoint any person RIBHAGSREMEA - EEe/FEEEEM AL
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional AZEZENEHMESEETRSAIELETIEKE -
member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to &A&KERABIRELEEESSFE  hEEeE
the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly FTENUREMNEEEFELLERABE EFERN
based on the assessment of their professional qualifications and %J@ﬂ AEBEEG 2 R REHTEE &
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for ERAIREHERE A HTES -

directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of

skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

E

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination ARFWIEEZEZEL ([BRELZZTEEG]) R -
Committee”) was established by the Board on 11 September —WHFEHA+—BHEEFSMT  WEBO¥
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the EATHIH TZEBRESNE FHELE SR
CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises the HEES I ER=-ELBIIENTESMHK I
chairman of the Board and three independent non-executive FEEFESISEEEETHE MK B AELE
Directors and is chaired by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. The other ZHh4ENEL+T - RREZESTEEENEH
members are Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong. The primary ZIE&EZREBE 7 BT mESSIRLHES
duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly responsible E R °

for making recommendations to the Board on appointment of

Directors and succession planning for Directors.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held in addition to B TEBFEEARE RELZESERNATRF
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. E&8{TT7 —X&€#% SEBNRELETESE:
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting FXRFIBW T :
are as follows:
Members Attendance
ME HE=
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) (appointed on 1 June 2023) N/A
SRS (FE)(RZEZ=F A —BEZME)
Leung Wai Chuen 11
RER
Chung Wai Man 11
EEX
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) 11
BRERZZE_=FA—HET)
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) N/A

HZAMRZE_=FA—BEZMT)
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NOMINATION POLICY

The latest updated version of the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Board
and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. A summary of the
selection criteria and procedures for recommendation and
selection of candidates for directorship is disclosed below.

Selection Criteria
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors:

(@) Reputation for integrity;
(b)  Accomplishment, skills and experience in the industry;

(c)  Meeting the "independence” criteria as set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in
conformity with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable);

(d)  Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(e) Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

RBBR

AR FEIRE BRI EHIRA ((RARBERD)
EEEFGRBYN T - —FNA—B4XN
PEREEERARAT RERTREFR
EANTREERRFHREREMT -

R

AEEREREARTSEN  REEEQAE
BIUATEX

(@) f=2:

(b) MITHEHAH - BEE &R

(00 TAGEMLETRAIFAE M B £ B
EEE WA AGEM T8 B 7R 5 5
X (@)

(d) ARANEREMBENONE &

() ZHEEE(BEETENMER - Fi&K -
XIERBERES BEER Xt AH
KRRTSEH) -

FHRARAH2E I TEERERERE
BAREREUEER -REZBGAREREE
MERBEENAL

EEAZBBEWERRBEERARIMFNE
ABR - UREXABRE  AERZERES
VYRABEMEZEEERRAUEENERTEEM
XHRABEEERRARELEAER -

REZBESUNARBLE  ATUAEREEAR
HEINE B RS

SHRPAEEERERAT 2022/23F 8K

57



58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1b ¥ &AW &

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons
shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to
stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent
to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and reqgulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in
the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the secretary of the Company
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without the
Board’s recommendation or the Director’'s nomination, other
than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The
particulars of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time

before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
secretary of the Company.
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The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the "gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as a Director, shareholder proposed resolutions
shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed
for the candidates recommended by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy annually.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The latest updated version of the board diversity policy of the
Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(i) The Company should comply with the requirements on
board composition in the GEM Listing Rules from time to
time.

(i) The number of independent non-executive Directors should
be not less than three and one-third of the Board.

(iii) At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

E=QURNERBREAERRAE L2EN
FIEEEARERTERE

i

HRNMREANBRBEAERERBE AL MA
EHITEABEREBEEEW — L 1REANE
ERESZ FAUBRRREENIREEZSHER
REANZRARAAROBN

REZESEBFRVEABRUABRIERRK
KB - IR E BB wmEMATRES
IR - WRMEFEHBEEM L EEITAHE
AL AE -

EEEMEZ TILBUR
ARAEFSEZLEBENZHEHRRA ([E
EEZNEBRRDERESTERRK IR _-F
T A-BAERMHAREEZERRAENT
EFEZ LR AN EEREFTE ST
M7 - ARBBREBLZTEERE (BEET
RAER - e XERBEES HEERK -
BEE - MBMRGFH) MEREFEXNEZ T
- FBESESZEHARARS BREA - X
REBAEENEBREROBELEZTEKE
bz

RPTEFTSLZTHEERREDN  SEA/ATA

sHERE:

(i) ARFETKETGEMEMRABHES
SHEKNBE -

() BIFATEBABTOREA (5B S
EABM=HZ—
b2 BUFATERLAABEE R

(i) =AH—
EXERRGANARY BERER XA -

SHRPAEEERERAT 2022/23F 8K

59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1b ¥ &AW &

(iv) At least one director should be the professional or have
intensive experience of the industry on which the business
of the Group is.

(v)  The Board will not consider diversity to be achieved for a
single gender Board.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Financial Year. The Board has achieved the
measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy for the
Financial Year.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the
diversity profile of the Board, including the gender balance of the
Directors, and the progress on achieving the diversity objectives,
annually. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

PROGRESS ON AND STATUS OF GENDER
DIVERSITY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 46 employees,
approximately 63.0% of whom were male and approximately
37.0% of whom were female.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
five male Directors and one female Director. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix
appropriate for the business of the Company and will review
the composition and diversity of the Board annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to achieve
gender diversity:

o The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership skills,
decision making capabilities, communication skills and
professional qualification of the staff.

. The Board will also consider outside sources such as head
hunter and referral.
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EO COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Electricity Ordinance (“EO") compliance committee of the
Company (the “"EO Compliance Committee”) was established
by the Board on 11 September 2014. The EO Compliance
Committee currently comprises two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director and is chaired by Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond. The other members are Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing and Mr. Chung. The primary duties of the EO Compliance
Committee are to oversee and monitor the Group’s compliance
of EO and other relevant regulations through regular meetings
and special meetings.

Four EO Compliance Committee meetings were held during the
Financial Year. Details of the attendance of the EO Compliance
Committees meetings are as follows:
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Members Attendance
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chairman) 4/4
FTElE (£ /)

Hui Kwok Wing 4/4
BT &8

Chung Wai Man 4/4
R

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of its financial performance and cash flows for that
financial year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the Financial Year, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements and
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor,
BDO Limited, in respect of their audit services for the Financial
Year amounted to HK$730,000. Save as disclosed above, there
was no other non-audit service provided by the auditor during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
Such risk management and internal control systems are designed
for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The latest updated version of the risk management policy of the
Company (the “Risk Management Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022.

The Risk Management Policy is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Company risk-assessment process should identify and
consider the implications of relevant risks, at both the entity level
and the activity level. The risk-assessment process should consider
external and internal factors that could impact achievement
of the objectives, should analyse the risks, and provide a basis
for managing them. Such risks would include, amongst others,
material risks relating to environmental, social and governance.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board)
oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Financial Year.
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Possible risks and uncertainties

The Group’s possible risks and uncertainties range from raw
material risk, market risk, operational risk, credit risk and
financial risk.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, especially the Hong Kong retail market, and
also the downturn pressure on the overall economy of the Hong
Kong and other overseas markets. The Board is responsible for
the overall management of the business and review of material
business decisions involving material risks exposures from time to
time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Board also
reviews monthly performance, capital structure and key operating
data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group
engages professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including
legal, financial, environmental and operational developments. The
Group also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised
use or dissemination of confidential or inside information.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been
set up for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These procedures
are monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Adviser to carry out
the internal audit functions by performing an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems of the selected
cycles of the selected subsidiaries for the Financial Year. Such
review is conducted annually. The scope of review of Internal
Control Adviser included revenue and receipt cycle, human
resources and payroll cycle and financial reporting cycle for
certain subsidiaries with principal activities of retail chain business
in lighting, designed label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong.
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Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and
areas for improvement to the Company. All recommendations
from Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely
by the management of the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Group
therefore considered that the risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the Group
in its current business environment and that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are inadequate.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of CG Code for the Financial Year in all
material respects. The Company has reviewed the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and internal control of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial and
operation for the Financial Year.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control
element, a series of disclosure procedures of price sensitive
information on reporting and dissemination of inside information
and preservation of confidentiality. Under the inside information
disclosure policy, head of the accounting department of the
Company shall report to company secretary of the Company
and Directors any potential/suspected inside information event
as soon as practicable when it materialises for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All
staff are also required to observe the code of ethical standards
stated in staff handbook to keep non-public information
confidential.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
The Board has adopted a stakeholder relations and
communications policy of the Company (the “Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy”) on 18 February 2014. The
purpose of the Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
is to establish minimum standards for how the Company and the
Directors will communicate openly about our plans, performance,
values and services to its stakeholders. The Stakeholder Relations
and Communications Policy is summarized as follows:

The Board will submit to the chief executive officer of the
Company an annual report on the activities of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company will table that report
before the annual general meeting of the Company. Copies of
annual reports and annual financial statements will be distributed
to a Board-approved distribution list and to any stakeholder
upon request. Annual reports and financial statements will be
distributed to shareholders, the public and the media free of
charge.

The compliance officer or chief executive officer of the Company
is authorized by the Group for providing information for and
handling enquiries from media and investors (including but
not limited to, brokerage houses, analysts, fund managers
and institutional investors). Other enquiries from stakeholders
generally will be directed to the compliance officer or chief
executive officer of the Company who will evaluate the request,
respond directly or through a designate when appropriate or
gather the necessary background information and direct the
request to the chairman of the Board.

The Board has reviewed the Stakeholder Relations and
Communications Policy and its effectiveness for the Financial
Year. The Company has provided appropriate communication
channels to the shareholders in accordance with the Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy and therefore existing
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy is appropriate
to the Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors of the Company. The Company uses two-way
communication channels to account to shareholders and investors
for the performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions
from shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
shareholders may be put to the Board through the following
channels to the executive Directors:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at
10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong; or

2. By email at investor@elighting.asia.

The Company uses a number of formal communication channels
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance
of the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly,
interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) updating the key information of the Group available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;
(iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors; and
(v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner
and on a regular basis information of the Group to shareholders
through the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general
meeting for which at least 20 clear business days’ notice shall
be given. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, the Directors
are available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision F.2.2
of the CG Code, the management will ensure the external
auditor to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration
by shareholders. According to article 58 of the Articles, any
one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general meeting,
he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) at the
Company’s head office located at 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199
Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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The Notice shall:

(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)  be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the proposal of election of the
Candidate as a director of the Company without adjourning the
general meeting, shareholders are urged to submit and lodge
the Notice as early as practicable preferably at least 15 business
days prior to the date of the general meeting appointed for such
election.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (www.elighting.asia) which includes the latest
information relating to the Group and its businesses.

INDEPENDENT VIEW POLICY

The independent view policy of the Company (the “Independent
View Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on
1 April 2022.

The Independent View Policy is established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board.

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy. The nomination
process of Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, is included in the Nomination Policy.

The Board should include at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors. At least one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has served less than 9 years on the
Board. At least one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company must
appoint Independent Non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board. The Company shall appoint a
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors to
meet the minimum number required above within three months
after failing to meet the requirement(s).
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The Board committees should comprise a majority of Independent
Non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at the time of their
appointments, and in a timely manner for any changes, the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. The identity of
the public companies or organisations and an indication of the
time involved should also be disclosed.

When selecting Independent Non-executive Directors, the
candidates’ availability should be considered as sitting on a
Board involves a significant time commitment. Independent
Non-executive Directors must dedicate time to reading materials
prior to Board meetings in order to make the hours spent in
meetings effective. They also have to learn to understand the
Company’s complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The Nomination Committee should be aware of the factors which
may affect an individual’s time commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. All Directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that
Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations,
are followed.

The Board shall review the Independent View Policy annually
to ensure its continued effectiveness. Any revisions to the
Independent View Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

The Board was satisfied with the implementation and

effectiveness of the Independent View Policy for the Financial
Year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 20 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture
future growth opportunities.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following
factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group, together with its
subsidiaries;

(c) the Group’'s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

(f)  other factors that the Board may considered relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws and the Company’s
articles of association.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 17 November 2021. During the Financial
Year, Mr. Tang has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while
the Group is principally engaged in retail chain business in
lighting, designer label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware, giftware and other
trading worldwide. The principal activities and other particulars
of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE RELEVANT LAW AND
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 46 to 71. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks
to make short term gains at the expense of the long term
objectives.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Year
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6, CEO's
Statement on pages 7 to 8 and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to 40 of this annual report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular
the "“Risk Management and Internal Control” section under the
Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Financial Year and the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 159.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Financial Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company during the Financial Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no distributable reserve
that was for distribution to shareholders.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and
business partners (including suppliers and contractors) are
key stakeholders to the Group’s success. The Group strives to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging its employees,
providing quality products and services to the customers,
collaborating with business partners to deliver quality sustainable
products and services and supporting the community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Financial Year, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 1.0% of the Group’s revenue and
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 0.5%
of the Group’s revenue.

During the Financial Year, the top five suppliers together
accounted for approximately 54.2% of the Group’s purchases
and the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately
19.2% of the Group's purchases.

During the Financial Year, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of shares in issue) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023)
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023)

By virtue of article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Chung Wai Man
and Mr. Leung Wai Chuen will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

By virtue of article 83 of the Articles, Ms. Wong Long Yan
Milka shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the
executive Directors, and Mr. Chung Wai Man and Mr. Leung Wai
Chuen, the independent non-executive Directors, have entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of
two years from 11 September 2022, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ written notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka, the independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a fixed term of two years from 1 June 2023, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.
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None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within 1 year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 41 to 45.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFQO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of
Dealings were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company REQATNEERNEE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
i BoRERME &5 HE REMOB DL
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond  Interest in controlling corporation 210,000,000 46.56%
Eaci: bt RyEEEER (Note)
(MH3E)
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu Beneficial Owner 45,000,000 9.98%
FFE &) 5 A EnlEA A
Note: B 5

These shares are held by Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, to the best of the knowledge of the
Directors and the Chief Executives and based on the public
records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records
kept by the Company, the interests and short positions of the
persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
JiE BoRERME &5 8 E REMAOB DL
Time Prestige Ventures Limited ~ Beneficial Owner 210,000,000 46.56%

EnfEAA
Ms. Ng Hiu Ying (Note) Interest of spouse 45,000,000 9.98%
REEsa+ (M) Fo B an
Note: B 5

Ms. Ng Hiu Ying is the spouse of Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. Under the SFO, Ms. Ng Hiu
Ying is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no person or
corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to the Eligible Participants and to promote the success of the
business of the Group.

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme on
11 September 2014 whereby the Board is authorised, at its
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, to grant options to the Eligible Participants to subscribe
for the shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme will be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue upon the date of the
shares of the Company listed on GEM, being 40,000,000 shares
(or such numbers of shares as shall result from a subdivision or
a consolidation of such 40,000,000 shares from time to time)
(the “Scheme Limit"”). Subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time
to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
the approval by the shareholders in general meeting; and/or (ii)
grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the total number
of shares in issue from time to time. No options shall be granted
under any schemes of the Company (including the Share Option
Scheme) if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each Eligible Participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option
at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

At the beginning and the end of the Financial Year, the number
of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
is 40,000,000 shares. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing approximately 8.87%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company. Since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share option has been
granted by the Company.

Remarks:

1. Pursuant to Rule 23.03A of the GEM Listing Rules, the
participants of a scheme shall only comprise directors
and employees of the issuer or any of its subsidiaries and
the persons who provide services to the issuer group on
a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual
course of business which are in the interests of the long
term growth of the issuer group.

2. Pursuant to Rule 23.03F of the GEM Listing Rules, the
vesting period for options shall not be less than 12 months.
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3. Pursuant to Rule 23.04(3) of the GEM Listing Rules,
where any grant of options or awards to an independent
non-executive director or a substantial shareholder of the
listed issuer, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all options and awards granted (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the relevant class of shares in issue, such further grant
of options or awards must be approved by shareholders of
the listed issuer in general meeting in the manner set out
in Rule 23.04(4). Pursuant to Rule 23.04(4) of the GEM
Listing Rules, the listed issuer must send a circular to the
shareholders. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the listed issuer must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting. The listed issuer
must comply with the requirements under rules 17.47A,
17.47B and 17.47C.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Financial Year P& EXXFTI#REE AON - R ARBIBLFE - ZK’A‘T
was the Company, or any of its holding companies or any of its E{FiER AR KEFMMB AR ELE
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors }mffﬁzﬂit FEEMNEETHRAER (’T%/H\@E
and the Chief Executives (including their spouses and children {BX+/\BNA NF2) AAR Ak £HEBSEAE (F
under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in & &, % %5 & HI & (& F EXVEB) A E R KR G5
the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures of the Company #HERD NKEEZ ZERIRE -

or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of

the SFO).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Financial Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or the Director’s
connected party had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any
time during the Financial Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director, is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability

insurance throughout the Financial Year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Financial Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond and the company through which he holds equity
interests in the Company, namely, Time Prestige Ventures
Limited, have entered into a deed of non-competition with the
Company on 11 September 2014. The details of the deed of
non-competition have been disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 September 2014.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed the Company
that they had complied with the non-competition undertakings
during the Financial Year. The Board (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has reviewed and confirmed the
compliance with the non-competition undertakings by the
controlling shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
did not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements thereunder.

There are no other non-exempt connected and continuing
connected transactions during the Financial Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Particulars of retirement benefits plan of the Group as at 31
March 2023 are set out in note 4(m)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CONFIRMATION INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
nonexecutive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during
the Financial Year.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

After the completion of the engagement of Ample Capital
Limited as the compliance adviser of the Company in compliance
with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 30 June 2017, the
Company did not have compliance adviser.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of
the environment and the society. The Group has endeavoured
to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopted effective environmental policies to ensure
its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect of
environmental protection.

The Group aims to capture the flourishing LED market,
by monitoring the latest development of policies for LED
products and providing customers with more eco-friendly and
cost-effective LED products. The Group has also assembled
the product portfolio in order that the majority of the lighting
appliance products to be LED compatible, and the Group has
designated several of existing retail shops as LED specialty stores
which primarily showcase LED lighting appliance products.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

A standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Group shall be published separately and will be posted on
the websites of the Company (www.elighting.asia) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

B ER

RIEGEM | M #1 BI 85.0916 - A QR E WE &
BYFPTEFEHZBIURRELRABNA
MR FEMBBIUIFNITERTRIEIL -

ERERER
RZE—tEFNAZFTHAZHARRRIEGEM
FHHRREA IR RERMEER AR AR
HEMZE  ARaTESRBER -

RIRSEH

AEBARERERERMEGNAFHEER - K
SERNEBETEBRRROZAER  XEAE
MERREE - BREEBNERERDEAPT

TR TR T o

AREENEZRIEHEMAZEZREEDOLED
Mg BREREBUIDRENSTEREAR
FREFARREAEKNETBENLEDE MR ° K&
EEEAERMEEG  UERBHBHRERESR
ATEIEDHESF MAEENEBETETHEEZE
JEBLEDEPIE - T ZRRLEDRAESRESR °

SO AEBEFES M BERE K LE @G
2l REEREOURNEEZHESKRNER
BRI EIANEREGEREBEEMSRNERE
BB A A BE R R ERBE -

REBIRE g kEARETHBLSTHE
I 145 B H R AR B A8 (www .elighting.asia) &
B 22 BT 48 9 (www.hkexnews.hk) °



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out in the financial summary on page 160 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS E £ & ¥ &

75 1 =
AEEEE  AERAEEERRAFRE60
B2 BHER -

B EED
AMBFREEMBERRCHBELERERE
SN EBAAERARER  HBRNEEALNE
EREREET - ARAKREERRBEFKE
TEBE-DRZREEFTELGERGIME
BRAERRREER/ARA ZZEED -

EEEED

ERAKEZRAERLT
FFE 2
FE

FEH —E-=FA=-1+=H

SHRPAEEERERAT 2022/23F 8K

83



84

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M 2 AR
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TEE © +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
HEEATHEEPI1115E
k& 2518

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

E LIGHTING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of e Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 159, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ¥& 37 #% £ B 3R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

(Refer to Note 5(a), Note 15 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$645,000
and HK$17,609,000 respectively.

Certain retail shops (cash-generating units (“CGUs"”) of the Group) had
reported continued losses in the current year which was considered
as an impairment indicator on the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. Management has performed an impairment
assessment on these non-financial assets as at 31 March 2023 to
determine the recoverable amount using value-in-use calculations.

Based on the result of management’s assessment, impairment loss for the
year of approximately HK$58,000 and HK$2,411,000 were recognised
to reduce the carrying amounts of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, respectively to their recoverable amounts.

Because of the significance of the balance, the existence of impairment
indicator and the determination of recoverable amount of these assets,
using value-in-use calculations, as well as the key assumptions applied
to the cash flow forecast require significant judgements and estimates
by the management about the future results of the related business, we
have identified this matter as a key audit matter.
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Our response:

- Tested management’s assessment as to which groups of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have indicators of
impairment, together with management’s grouping of such assets
in the relevant CGUs;

- For those CGUs that included property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with impairment indicators, tested the
relevant discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by management,
including:

- assessed the reasonableness of key input data in the cash
flow forecasts by comparing them with historical actual
information;

- compared the expected revenue growth rates to relevant
market expectations such as industry information;

- tested the discount rate with reference to our understanding
of the business including the future business plans of the
relevant CGUs, comparisons to other similar companies and
broader market considerations;

- evaluated the methodologies adopted and checked the
mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations used
to estimate the recoverable amounts; and

- performed sensitivity analysis on the key input data and
assumptions to the impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative assumptions that would
have on the estimated recoverable amounts.
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Impairment assessment of inventories
(Refer to Note 5(b) and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$12,297,000 net of provision of HK$2,038,000. Management
estimated the net realisable value of inventories at the end of the
reporting period, and make provision for write-down in value, if any.

We had identified inventory valuation as a key audit matter as impairment
assessment on inventories was subject to significant management
judgment and the amount involved could be significant.

Our response:

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s provision policy on
inventories and basis of the assessment;

- Reviewed and assessed obsolete or out-dated inventories identified
by management and estimation of the net realisable value of these
inventories;

- Evaluated historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by
comparing historical provision made to the loss incurred for actual
sales;

- Reviewed inventory ageing analysis and analysing the level of aged
inventory and their associated provisions;

- Tested the carrying amount of aged and obsolete inventories on a
sample basis to the source documents; and

- Reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories, with
reference to subsequent sales information and the external price
data, and performed testing by tracing to the source documents on
a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

3 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

3 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

3 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate Number P06158

Hong Kong,
23 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TEBEEK

Hir 2 mHWHE K

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —F - =#=H=+—HIFFZE

LOSS

2023 2022
—E-=F —T-—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FBT FHBT
Revenue EHEH 7 78,927 83,891
Cost of sales SHE KA (36,619) (37,652)
Gross profit EF 42,308 46,239
Other income, gains and losses Hil A - WEH KREE 8 (841) 305
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HAX (28,318) (27,422)
Administrative and other expenses TE R E B (17,094) (15,373)
Expected credit losses recognised on CREERANAHREEEE
financial assets (1,603) (1,139)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE (924) (761)
(Loss)/profit before income tax PR AT B AT (B548) i A 9 (6,472) 1,849
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisfi (FAsxx) #H & 12 (373) 546
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income AR AR AEEFE
for the year attributable to the owners (B18) 5 H K
of the Company PHEHKEEEE (6,845) 2,395
(Loss)/earnings per share Tk (EE) B (B
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EARREE (B) (1.52) 0.53

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
B BB AR AR

an\
As at 31 March 2023 R —ZE - =#F=H=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F B2
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET T T
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment b E 15 645 383
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 17,609 18,804
Rental deposits HEZRS 20 4,722 2,540
Deferred tax assets RIETIBE E 24 930 970
23,906 22,697

Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 19 12,297 10,955
Trade and other receivables JE WU R I8 K B th JE W R IE 20 3,460 6,843
Cash and bank balances B & MIRITA R 9,938 13,855
25,695 31,653
Total assets EEHAE 49,601 54,350

Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JE 15 3R 08 Ko H At & < FR0E 21 6,467 5,648
Contract liabilities AHEaE 22 1,181 1,268
Lease liabilities HEARE 23 14,073 13,758
Current tax liabilities BNEARE IE & f& 152 40
21,873 20,714
Net current assets REEEFE 3,822 10,939
Total assets less current liabilities EELAERTEBERE 27,728 33,636

ERAKEEZERERARA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42 4 Bf 7% 4 S0 %=
As at 31 March 2023 R=F=—=#=H=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E- =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
I FET FAT
Non-current liabilities kABEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 7,528 6,591
7,528 6,591
Total liabilities EEHRE 29,401 27,305
NET ASSETS EERE 20,200 27,045
EQUITY R
Share capital A% 2 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves s 15,690 22,535
TOTAL EQUITY EmAE 20,200 27,045

On behalf of the Board
REREFS

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (EFE3#)

Director &%

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

Hue Kwok Chiu (3 E $1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAREBEDE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z —ZF -~ =#F=H=41—HIFZ

Share Share Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
N 125 E Hitnf# R BB BERAH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER THER
(Note)
(B aE)
At 1 April 2021 —FMA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (46,928) 24,650
Profit and total comprehensive FERMRE
income for the year 2ENRLE - - - 2,395 2,395
As at 31 March 2022 and RZB-_—F=A=+—HK
1 April 2022 “Z-__FWA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (44,533) 27,045
Loss and total comprehensive FEEER
income for the year PENEEE - - - (6,845) (6,845)
As at 31 March 2023 —Z#=Zf=+-H 4,510 67,066 2 (51,378) 20,200
Note: B &

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value ~ AEBHMFEHEE AR AEHETROEEERER T -0
of shares issued by the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued ~ FNLANBAKRBEBEHEKENRE R E FITRAEE
share capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation which — #8%8 7 &) Z%E ©

became effective on 8 September 2014.

ERAKEEZERBRAR  2022/235FH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\/'.l'\/\iﬁ-ﬁljlb%%%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %= — & —

—=FZH=1—HIFE

2023 2022
—EB=HF —T-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities REKLEITBNELRE
(Loss)/profit before tax BR&E AT (E548) i T (6,472) 1,849
Adjustments for: IS HEELFAE :
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y - WERZERE
equipment &8 58 8
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREERE 2,411 421
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - &= & RENFTE 295 227
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15,769 13,070
Provision /(reversal of provision) for FEREBIBEE
impairment loss on inventories (EHEHEE) 31 (216)
Expected credit losses recognised on trade EYHRIEERNBHEE
receivables B8 18 62
Expected credit losses recognised on other E A 8 IR T i 5B
receivables BHEEER 1,585 1,077
Income from rent concession REHEESHRA (252) (387)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGEMNE 924 761
Operating cash flows before EEESRHIZKE
working capital changes RERE 14,367 16,872
Increase in inventories FE®EM (1,373) (2,848)
Increase in trade and other receivables JFE s R TR K EL A UK R IE HE N (402) (424)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JE A5 3008 K E At B 5 3RIE
other payables #n CR ) 819 (1,707)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHAREORD) /1Em (87) 210
Cash generated from operations KEFMBNES 13,324 12,103
Income tax paid B ATIS (221) (404)
Net cash generated from RETHMBREFHE
operating activities 13,103 11,699
Cash flows from investing activities RERETZBNELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BENKE (615) (557)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFMANRE TR (615) (557)

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 4R &

2N =]

BERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 gt —EFE - =% =H=1—HI - FZF

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5t FBT FHET
Cash flows from financing activities REBMETZBNELRE
Repayment of principal portion of the BEBEABEZERIMD
lease liabilities 30 (15,481) (14,090)
Interest paid BEARFE 30 (924) (754)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETBMANESFEE (16,405) (14,844)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE&RBESZEYR D BHE (3,917) (3,702)
Cash and cash equivalents at FIzEERELEEY
beginning of year 13,855 17,557
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERXZBEERBESEEY 9,938 13,855
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash BERBELZEYWEE
equivalents: D
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEE R 9,938 13,855

ERAKEZERERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (the
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 29 November 2013 under the Companies
Law. Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
and principal place of business are disclosed in the Corporate

“Company”) was

Information section of this annual report.

The Company’s issued shares have been listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 29
September 2014.

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally engaged
in retail chain business in lighting, designer label furniture and
household products in Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware,
giftware and other trading. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The directors consider that the Company’s parent and ultimate
parent is Time Prestige Venture Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March

2023 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 23 June 2023.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - Effective

on 1 April 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
for following amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which are relevant
to and effective for the Group’s financial statements for
annual period beginning on 1 April 2022:

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 9 Financial
to HKFRSs 2018- Instruments, and lllustrative
2020 Examples accompanying HKFRS 16
Leases

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

The amendments to HKFRSs that are effective from 1 April
2022 did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
accounting policies or financial results and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective
The following new and amendments to HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

2023

2024

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
HK Interpretation 5 (2022),
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants’

Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

100 E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continueq)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of adopting the above amendments to HKFRSs on
the Group's results and financial position in the first year of
application. The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of these amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions and/or the disclosure to these consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong
Kong dollars (HK$°000), unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on
the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the dates of
acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value.

The Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed
unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

4, BREFTHEER
(a) ¥BAHREAEAZEE

RAVBREBREBEASENGBHRE -
RFEHREEMBEHRRE  FEARAF K
R AR 5 B BR 52 (R OR 238 )R 15 &
BEE BRI SREMEREE
MEMEE SRRERBEBRTTUY
o ERBERT  BERENEGENER -

FACKRBEACHEZWMBRAREED
EkERSMERHEERE AL (RS
ME) st ARE B K EMEE R ER
WMEFE SHNMBAR M B HKE
HAAE USHESFRRAARAEEHET
HMK B AR PR AZ & FEE 5

WK B A B S R B R BRI
—BHRBIRADEMBREE  FE
SRERARE (FRWET) BHITZK
BRWEBEAZATEHAENE - IR
BriBBEERMAZBER Z2HK
BEARAFEAE -

AN B 5T B PR BB T 2 B kg LA MR
EARFEENTE MAELEZ WS
HEEANIEREANER - AEE AR
BERZEERENRWETT 2 7 35
BEFERFERENGLL PG EIFER
BREzD - RIEBABYBREERNRE
ZFAEEE BRMAEMIFERE
REZHRAFEAEB - MEEZ KB
HERARFIMERS  BRIFZFERANTIR
BITBRATARESL  E%BRT  AF
BAS T e #E 2 o 065



4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an asset
or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition,
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership

the carrying amounts of

interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

4., BEREFTEXR

()

(a) XBEHRGEREZEE:

W& TERE ZERKARETRK
BRAHZAFERR HARKERFNEE
RErEHE (RRAWER R 12EA)
ARG ERRKBERRZATFEZH
BRI TEREEER DBERABEEN
EEZHAREREEMBLERARGR
B HER o

AEERMBRAR RS S (WEEH
REEGB)IERBEIZH AR - AKE
R EIF R R R 2 BREES T
VAR 2 - DA R B A B B A B4R S 4
2B FERBERER cHERED
ﬁﬁ%%ﬂZﬁF“$@2ﬁ%Eﬁ%
BN EENEGER  LRBRAR
BEA -

%Kil%zmgﬂﬂZﬁﬂ% i &

BEDRTIIME 2 ZH5 (i) Ffr YU ER
REZ A FEEEMNRE %ﬁz FE

#E - Bl)ZHBARZEE (BREBE)
REaEREMFEERRRERBEZR
EE - SR st 52 I8 & A7 H 2 8 W
ABERZRERHENREEXAGR
FrfE 2 HBR 7T A HIEK -

WiER RERMNEAR 2L EER
ZHEERRER  CRAERZ T ER
W) 2 HE R B 2 SRER N b SR 4R AR AR R A
E%M%Eﬁ&ﬁﬁz%ﬁ°%ﬁ@§
BOFEERBRREGL B BALS 208
WA EE T 5 B IR Hx?ﬁ&%ﬁﬁo

SHRPEEERERAT 2022/23FHK

103



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised
in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note 4(g)),
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill (Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit.
However, the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce
the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use (if
determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the asset has been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is charged to
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred. In situations
where it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the subsequent expenditure will flow to the Group
and the cost can be measured reliably, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of the asset.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

WIN

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements 4 years or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sale proceeds and carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit and loss.

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the right-to-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
remaining lease term or estimated useful life.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B 3T

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Leasing (continued)
Lease ||ab|||ty (Continued)
Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

(f) Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(i) Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over
their useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in
administrative expenses.

Customers relationship 5 years

(ii) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment
by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(g)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to

be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(Continued)

(ii) Impairment (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its
revaluation surplus.

Impairment of other assets (other than
financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and investments in subsidiaries to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note 4(c)),
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Inventories
Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

(i) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECLs"”) on trade receivables, other
receivables and financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the end of the reporting period; and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other receivables, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3l 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

(V)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Company's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Income tax
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets also arisen
from unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Except for
temporary differences arising on (i) the initial recognition of
goodwill; (ii) the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction which is not a business combination and at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting or taxable
profit; and (iii) investments in subsidiaries where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference; and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected
manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()]

Income tax (continued)

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
profit or tax loss of the periods in which the temporary
differences are expected to reverse. The determination of
the average tax rates requires an estimation of (i) when
the existing temporary differences will reverse and (ii) the
amount of taxable income in those years. The estimation of
future taxable income includes (i) income or loss excluding
reversals of temporary differences; and (ii) reversals of
existing temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also
recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or services may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or services is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(i)

Sales of lighting and furniture products
and tableware and giftware products

The revenue derived from sales of lighting and
furniture products and tableware and giftware
products is recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred to the customer.
This is generally when the goods are delivered to
the customer and when the customers accept the
products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 30 days.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers from
the sale of product provides customers a right of
return (a right to exchange another product). These
rights of return do not allow the returned goods to be
refund in cash. The right of return gives rise to variable
consideration. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until the
associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The
application of the constraint on variable consideration
increases the amount of revenue that will be deferred.

Other income

a) Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned
basis by reference to the principal outstanding
at the applicable interest rate.

b) Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income
in the statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

()

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(ii) Other income (continued)
b) (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable and
are recognised as other revenue, rather than

reducing the related expense.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such

cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absence such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (continued)

(n)

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plan. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are
recognised as an expense in profit of loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of

(iii)

when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3l 2% B 3%

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those
ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate
ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on the translation
of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less than that are ready
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(a)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B 3T

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, other key sources of estimation uncertainty
that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within next financial year
are as follows:

(a) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group reviews internal and external sources of
information at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased, except in the case of goodwill. The Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount when any such
indication exists. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of
the CGU to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and these risks specific to the assets. The preparation of
projected future cash flows involves the estimation of future
revenue and operating costs which are based on reasonable
assumptions supported by information available to the
Group. Changes in the estimates would result in additional
impairment provisions or reversal of impairment in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Provision for inventories

The Group reviews and identifies at the end of each
financial period, provision for inventories (if any) is based
on recent sales performance, management experience with
characteristic customer purchase behaviour and assessment
of the product’'s alignment with current market trend.
The management estimates the net realisable value for
inventories based primarily on the latest market prices and
current market conditions. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgment and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/written back in the period in which the estimate has
been changed.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables,
using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECLs model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

Taxation

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions, and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account
all changes in tax legislations. Where the final tax outcome
of these transactions is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such difference will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d) Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and tax rate to be used in the calculations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting, in accordance with the Group's internal
organisation and reporting structure, provided to the chief
operating decision-maker to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:
Lighting and furniture . retail of lighting products and
business household furniture in Hong Kong
Tableware, giftware and . retail and wholesale of tableware

other business and giftware and other trading

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’ profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEER @w
(a) Business segment (a) EHKHH
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=-A=+—HLEFE
Lighting Tableware,
and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
Bk EH 2R
REAEK REMER “at
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FExT FExT
Revenue from external customers KRB A 78,903 24 78,927
Reportable segment result WD EEE 13,589 (1,943) 11,646
Other segment information: Hihp BEHR :
Depreciation of property, Y% BEREZEN
plant and equipment e 295 - 295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 15,769 - 15,769
Impairment loss on property, M - WERZERE
plant and equipment B8 52 - 52
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FEREEEREREIE 2,318 - 2,318
Additions to property, plant and equipment FE Y ¥ - BiRE &R & 615 - 615
Additions to right-of-use assets NERRAEEE 6,168 = 6,168
Expected credit losses recognised on trade & Yt 7k 38 7 E 4 fiE Ug 3008
and other receivables EROEHREEEE 18 1,585 1,603
ERAFEERER AR 2022/23F %K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Business segment (continued)

6. DEER @

(a) ¥E¥D I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_T-_—_#=-A=t+—HIFE
Lighting Tableware,
and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
EHik EA-EBH
REEYR IEMER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT FHT
Revenue from external customers REINBE WA 83,420 471 83,891
Reportable segment result WD EEE 19,486 (1,497) 17,989
Other segment information: HihpBER :
Depreciation of property, M BERZEN
plant and equipment e 227 - 227
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 13,070 - 13,070
Impairment loss on property, Y - WERZERE
plant and equipment 518 8 - 8
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREERE 415 = 415
Additions to property, plant and equipment SFEW % - HE & & & 557 = 557
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEGRAEEE 3,867 - 3,867
Expected credit losses recognised on trade & U % I8 & £ #f JiE Uy 35 1A
and other receivables RN EHEEERE 62 1,077 1,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEER @w
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment results (b) EFHoILEEBEZHER
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Reportable segment result ERDWEE 11,646 17,989
Other gains or losses — impairment loss on ~ Hib e z5 R ESE - W - KR
property, plant and equipment KR EE 1R (6) -
Other gains or losses — impairment loss on ~ H W zE K EE - FAEEE
right-of-use assets VERI=N RS (93) (6)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE (924) (761)
Unallocated warehousing and general office &% i & E&#}J#’“*Eﬁi
expenses (12,496) (11,269)
Other unallocated corporate expenses (note) Hth 7 2 Bl (& % 5 = (M E) (4,599) (4,104)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before income tax B FTEFBI4ES (E1E) & 7 (6,472) 1,849
Note: Other unallocated corporate expenses mainly consist of s EM AP OCER X T EBEEXER
professional expenses and other administrative expenses. N EMITHRE X ©
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (o) PHEERER
2023 2022
—E-=H T
HK$000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Assets BE
Lighting and furniture business JCR-ISE e 3 49,580 52,749
Tableware, giftware and other business Z2AH BRREMER 21 1,601
Consolidated total assets RAREE 49,601 54,350
Liabilities =R
Lighting and furniture business [ S ENE 28,420 26,735
Tableware, giftware and other business BH BRRkEMER 981 570
Consolidated total liabilities RAEREE 29,401 27,305
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEPEH W
(d) Geographic information (d) #HEER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TREIAEERBEIINTER 2 WA Z
revenue from external customers, determined based on DT THIRIBEE P TEMETE ¢

location of the customers:

2023 2022
—EBZ=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &% (FT1EH) 78,927 83,492
North America JE =M = 399
78,927 83,891
(e) Information about major customers (e) EBEEZTEEZEFHNEHR
The Group had no customer for whom the revenue raised AREBTEWASEBEAEEREE -
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group's E_=F=-A=tT-HIEFELLEXSE
total revenue during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: BIONHRPL(ZE - —F : #) o
Nil).
7. REVENUE 7. EXH#
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by BEMREBRRAVABEE O>NZEERKA
products and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: SHAF
2023 2022
—E-=H T
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: EFERMBA :
Sales of lighting and furniture products §H & 1B #h ) K B E m 78,903 83,420
Sales of tableware and giftware and HEZBRE R REMER
other products 24 471
78,927 83,891
Timing of revenue recognition: R AR :
At a point in time peap-a=a sl 78,927 83,891
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMWA Wz KkEiE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF—-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Government grants BT %8 B

Employment Support Scheme (note a) Rt ZE &l (Fi5Ea) 1,124 =
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERERBRE (2.411) (421)

Impairment loss on property, plant and M - BE MK EREEE
equipment (58) (®)
Others (note b) H A (fFaEb) 504 734
(841) 305

Notes: Bt 5

(a) The amount represented the government grants obtained from
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund
launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll
of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
Group did not have any unfulfilled obligations relating to this scheme.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
negative variable lease payments of HK$252,000 (2022: HK$387,000)
in others under other income, gains and losses in respect of the
Covid-19-related rent concessions provided by lessors.

(@ BETE-=F=A=+—BULEFEZLER
ERFRITTHEBR LA RIEES T
Rt a8 (R EFTE]) BT HEB) - A
FASERTWHM - AEE Y EE(TEZ

ERBMREITRE

b)) BE—FT-_=F=A=+—HLFE Fr%H
BMHEEAREHCOVID- 19N HAEERNE
A WERBRATHERBEZHEE

5K

252,000/ 7T (ZF = =4 : 387,000 7T) °

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRFIBHA (B1E) InFl
(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/ METER A (ER) &M e kg, GEe) -
(crediting):

2023 2022

—EB-=F —T-_=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FH&T

Auditor’s remuneration (2 Gl 730 680

Carrying amount of inventories sold EXGFEERE 29,069 31,664

Provision/(reversal of provision) for impairment 17 &R {EEBEE

loss on inventories (HEfEHEm) 31 (216)

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERARAIMNEERA 29,100 31,448

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - liE RSB EHITE 295 227

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEENE 15,769 13,070
Expected credit losses recognised on RTAEE2EREEBERR

— trade receivables - JE W FRIE 18 62

— other receivables — H b FEURIE 1,585 1,077
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

10. EMPLOYEE COSTS

10. lEE KA

2023 2022
—8== —E-C
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Employee costs (including directors’ EEKA (BIEESFHH)
emoluments) comprise: B

Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 19,583 18,453

Contributions on defined contribution A 7€ B 4t FOR IRET 21 2 X
retirement plan (note) (B 3%) 629 662
20,212 19,115

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2023, no forfeited contribution in
respect of the defined contribution retirement plan was utilised by
the Group to reduce the contribution payable to the plan (2022: Nil).
As at 31 March 2023, no forfeited contribution under this plan is
available to reduce future contribution (2022: Nil).

11. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments
Executive directors:
The emoluments paid or payable to executive directors
during the year are as follows:

fizk: BE—T_=F=A=1+—HILLFE ~5H

18 4 B FA 5 1 FOR UK 5T B A9 08 W 4 SR AR
EREER (T ==F &) - RZT==
FZA=+—A " ZAEETHED SUEER
AEHRRRER (B —F : &) -

M. EEFHMREZBESFMAL

(a) ESHM

BITES
RAFEEXNLEN TFTARITEENH
BT

Contributions

to defined
Salaries contribution
and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 3 88 it 3
HER ERGEz
e Hir @A H; et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THERT THET TET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ-ZF_=%=H=+-—-HL
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond % - 3,721 18 3,739
Hue Kwok Chiu e 4l - 1,353 18 1,371
Hui Kwok Wing FrEE - 570 18 588
- 5,644 54 5,698
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-E-—F=F=+—Hit
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond g% - 2,464 18 2,482
Hue Kwok Chiu el - 715 18 733
Hui Kwok Wing RS - 5571 18 569
= 3,730 54 3,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE "N EEFMRaEESFMA L@
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEFMw
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during RAFEEXN FBIUERNITEETANE
the year are as follows: ST

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 7€ £ fit &
Ed B EIZ
e HitiEH H®R #gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TR THER THERT
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ-T-=%=A=+-HLt
Chung Wai Man BEX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen RER 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann* R IE* 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Year ended 31 March 2022 #EE-E--—F=F=1+—HIt
Chung Wai Man EBEX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen 2ESR 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann BRE 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
* resigned on 1 June 2023 * RoE-—=&EXA—BEE
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11. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2022: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11(a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three) highest

AEEND AR

M. E2FHFHRABERESHFMA LT @

(b) EEERBHFMAL

BHEMALER  HFmE
BRADAEE (CE-—F: ﬁ%)
fto 79 ) 3 B 22 05 £ ST 11 (a
—E-=F=A=+- E¢¢E 8T

CHE

paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as AR FMALT(ZCE-_—_F:=48)
follows: o= RN
2023 2022
—EB-=F =~
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T T
Salaries and other benefits e &Eﬁﬂm ol 1,937 1,737
Contributions to defined contribution A EREMEEZGRINETE 2
retirement plan 54 54
1,991 1,791

Emoluments paid to each of above individuals for each of

the year fell within the following band:

FMNFATHEN LRATHBENAT :

2023 2022
—E-Z=H T
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
ATHER ATHER
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % %7c1,000,000 3 3
During the year ended 31 March 2023, no emoluments were BHE_ZEZ-_=—F#=A=+—HILEE -

paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2022: Nil).

No directors waived or agree to waive any emoluments for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12.

The amount of income tax expense/(credit) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents:

FiEHmx,/ (E&)
B A2 B E Ao 2 T M 2 55 PR 40 48 BB 2
/(%) B

2023 2022
—EB-=F —EF-o—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEARiTE — BB RIS
— charge for the year — REETH 228 115
— under-provision in respect of - BAFEREBETR
prior years 105 71
333 186
Deferred tax (note 24) EIERIE (M 5E24) 40 (732)
Income tax expense/(credit) Fis®ims (#E5) 373 (546)
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% %;‘%%\J?&}ﬁ)}}ﬁiﬁq)}é%;‘%éizméﬂ-}%%m
(2022: 16.5%) on the Group’s estimated assessable profits arising s A AT 2£16.5% :%:: ©16.5% ) A&
in Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group EAREE—KHBATKRI  ZAFEE Wi&

which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying
entity is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%.

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to
(loss)/profit before income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

%) F) ﬁﬁ$%ﬂﬁ£2;ﬁgosﬁwﬂé§ A2 FERT
% A H - B2,000,000 T 328.25% 5 & - i F
BRIE Rl A B E16.5% AT & -

FRRBHRAX (B BRaBaREME
W25 & N BR P 1S %RH\J(EST@)//@?‘QB%ZZD
g

2023 2022
—E-=F =~

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEE AT (BB) 5 F (6,472) 1,849
Tax calculated at the applicable domestic BRAMBRAREGEZ BB

tax rate (1,068) 305

Tax effect of temporary differences RERERZE

not recognised MG e 777 251

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose #EZERFIUA Z TG T £ (178) =

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRGEEZRETE 980 274

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) Ff 5 il R #E 52 2 Fi 75 5 48 (78) (588)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses # #2 5T Rl 7 #& 52 1 755 5 18 - (744)

Effect of two-tiered tax rate regime ARSI R E (165) (115)

Under-provision in respect of prior year BEFERETT 105 71

Income tax expense/(credit) FiE#EX (Fk) 373 (546)

ERAKEEZERERARA

2022/234% R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. B8R (FH8) &
The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share is BREALEE (BB AR TERNATEE
based on the following data: HH
2023 2022
—B-=4F —E—--
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/earnings: (B518) &7 :
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to KRARHEBAELEE
owners of the Company (B8) #H (6,845) 2,395
2023 2022
—E8=-= —E--F
‘000 ‘000
B’ T &
Number of shares: BRHOHE :
Weighted average number of shares for the METESREANNEE (5E)
purpose of calculating basic and diluted AF 2z niEEHIRDE B
(loss)/earnings per share 451,036 451,036

Notes: MEzx -

(i) Basic (loss)/earnings per share was calculated by dividing the (loss)/ (i) GRER(ER) BIBREBERANGTHES AEN
profit attributable to the owners of the Company by the weighted (B18) /%8 - BIAE RN 2T LB niE
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. FHYHE -

(ii) For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, diluted (loss)/earnings (ii) BE-_E-_—HEkK-_FET-_—_F=A=+—0801
per share was the same as basic (loss)/earnings per share as there FE HREBEE-_EZ =GR _ZFT-_—_4F=#
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the —+—BHIEEYTEEAEETRER BAHE
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. s (BR) /B EGRER(EE) /&F

1R .
14. DIVIDENDS 14. iR E

The board of directors does not recommend payment of any EEe s E—_E-—_=F#=HA=+—8

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any dividend IFEEIRMERRE  MBARSHHELEE H

been proposed since the end of reporting period (2022: Nil). KMEEZZRNEMKRE(ZE_—F : &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - RERE®E
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total
HEWME RE-#£8
#1 ] st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T FET THET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWA—H 4,901 1,818 6,719
Additions byl 426 131 557
As at 31 March 2022 and R—_ZE-_—_F=A=+—8K
1 April 2022 —E-__FpmUWA—H 5,327 1,949 7,276
Additions by 458 157 615
Written-off it 58 (360) (67) (427)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZZE_=F=A=+—H 5,425 2,039 7,464

Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERBEEE
impairment losses

As at 1 April 2021 R-_E-_—FmWA—H 4,852 1,806 6,658
Depreciation e 175 52 227
Impairment loss recognised (note) J&i 1A /& B iR (M 1) 1 7 8
As at 31 March 2022 and RZZ_—_F=A=+—HEK
1 April 2022 —TE-—_FWMA—H 5,028 1,865 6,893
Depreciation e 240 55 295
Impairment loss recognised (note) & B &5 B #E R (BT &) 41 17 58
Written-off T 85 (360) (67) (427)
As at 31 March 2023 RZTEZ=F=HA=+—H 4,949 1,870 6,819
Net book value REEE
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 476 169 645
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—H 299 84 383
Note: B3
The impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment approximately ME  WERRENREEIEA58,0008 T (ZE ==
to HK$58,000 (2022: HK$8,000) have been recognised and recorded in F 18,0008 L) EREMKA - EREBERKLD
other income, gains and losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, o BEINSMS SEEHERARAARSELES
retail shops of the Group are determined as CGUs. The impairment loss e RKAZEHREEABN ZREBENTE DI EX
attributable to those CGUs were then allocated to write down the assets in ERESELENNEE (BIEEREESE (fix16) &
the CGUs (including right-of-use assets (Note 16) and related property, plant HEME BELRERB) °

and equipment).
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3] 2% B 3

16. EHEEE

Properties
leased
for own use
BEREEWE
HK$'000
FExT
Cost
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 41,410
Additions 3,867
Lease modification HEEET 10,299
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-_TE-_—_F=A=+—8x~k
—ET--fFW™A—H 55,576
Additions 0 6,168
Lease modification HEEF 10,817
De-recognise upon lease expiry FH A & R 4R LR RERR (3,066)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE=—=F=A=+—8H 69,495
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Rt mERBEEE
At 1 April 2021 H-—E-—&mA—A 23,281
Depreciation e 13,070
Impairment loss recognised (note) VEREY ST A D) 421
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-_TE-_—_F=A=+—8K
—E-__FWMA—H 36,772
Depreciation e 15,769
Impairment loss recognised (note) B BB (M) 2,411
De-recognise upon lease expiry TR A JE o B 42 L HE R (3,066)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 51,886
Net book value IREFEE
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 17,609
As at 31 March 2022 RZTZZF=HA=+—H 18,804
Note: BT
The impairment loss related to right-of-use assets amounting to FREEENRERER2411,0008T(ZE-—4:
HK$2,411,000 (2022: HK$421,000) has been recognised and recorded in 421,000/ 70) EREMUA - ek R EIBR R FER -
other income, gains and losses to write down the carrying amount of the BREEEBMNREEMRE LT KESFE - LR
CGUs to its recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, BARATES  AEENTEEREERAREELE
the Group’s retail shops are determined as CGUs. The impairment losses - REZSEHCELBENZRAEBENTESEEZEZ
attributable to those CGUs were then allocated to write down the assets in EHeELBUNEE (BEWE  KE REE
the CGUs (including property, plant and equipment (Note 15) and related 15) RIBEAFEREEE) -

right-of-use assets).
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea) 16. EAEEE®
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs, in which the right-of-use FREESEMBNRSELEMYN KD £ 5E
assets were included, have been determined from value-in-use RIERBEETE - H IR B I #E & f Tl &4
calculations based on cash flow projections of the remaining lease HEHEENEER=EEA11.48% (ZE ==
periods from formally approved budgets and adopted pre-tax F 18 02% ) BRI REFESEH - FHAEE
discount rate of 11.48% (2022: 18.42%). The key assumptions FEFTEANTERRATEEEN R A31%E
for the value-in-use calculations are budgeted gross margin of 58% (ZZE - —F : 46%%E55%) r AE R X
31% to 58% (2022: 46% to 55%), growth rate of 0% to 9.0% B0%ZE9.0% (ZF = —4F : 0%3—".512,1%) kT
(2022: 0% to 12.1%) and wage inflation of 3% (2022: 3%). The BIEREBI%(ZFB-—4F:3%) - BEEF|
budgeted gross margin and growth rate are determined based RNBEEERRNIRGEESELAEUMNBE
on the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations KXELREEEYTEEENTARE T - TE
regarding market development. Wage inflation has been estimated RENZEZERBRHITRIEBUTA Luﬂaﬁﬁﬁ NG
with reference to the independent economic data published by the RN EESEmMGETEE o AN ARER
Census and Statistics Department of the Government of the Hong REHOTEERZEHOTEH Hﬂ%;’eiﬁ R -
Kong Special Administrative Region. In addition, to mitigate the EEEBAEEAEIREOKRABEEZEZES
deviation of the projected financial performance resulting from the % HESRE AR IR -
uncertainties about future events, the management has considered
multiple scenarios in projecting the revenue during the forecast
period, each of which are probability weighted.
Due to the local epidemic in the retail market, the Group’s HAAHMEEMEREEESE AEENZEE
retail stores fell short of the expected results and there have HRIEDTEHEE MEBEBERESE
been significant impacts to consumer sentiment and product KAZITE SAEBEEE=E_T _=F=A4
demand, which adversely affected the Group’s retail business ST -HLEEFENZEEBNRAIINTAZ
performance during the year ended 31 March 2023. Accordingly, 2 o [ 1 - L;T*M\Iﬂiﬁiﬁ LB s A
this had an impact on the estimated value in use of certain CGUs, BEEBKRTE WERYE BELXRENE
and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and ﬁﬁ%éﬁé,}&@}’éﬁ; °
right-of-use assets were recognised.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. EX &
Customers
relationship
BEFBER
HK$’000
FET
Cost 28
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R—_ZE-_—FmMA—AH
31 March 2023 —ETZf=RA=+—8"
T FWUA-BR
R =F=A=+—H 8,041
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses Bt BERRERFE
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and RZZE=_—FWHWA—H "
31 March 2023 —E-f#=fA=+—8"
—E-FWA-HR
—T-=F=A=+—H 8,041
Net book value BRE FE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2023 R - R -_TE-_=F=A=+—H =
ERAFEERER AR 2022/23F %K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3l 2% B 3%

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
HK$’000
FExT
Cost A
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and RZZE=_—FMWA—H -
31 March 2023 - —F=A=+—H"
—E__FWHA-BR
—E-=%f=ZA=+—H 36,906
Accumulated impairment losses ZiHREESE
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-_ZE-_—FWXA—H
31 March 2023 —_E-_—_F#=ZRA=+—8 "
—ECFWA-HR
—E-=Ff=A=+—8 36,906
Net book value IREEE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2023 RZEZ—FR-ZE-_=F=-HA=+—H =
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Merchandise o 14,335 12,962
Less: provision of impairment loss B R E S 1R 2 (2,038) (2,007)
12,297 10,955
A provision of impairment loss of approximately HK$31,000 (2022: BE-_Z-_=fF=FA=+—RIFECHERAF
reversal of provision of impairment loss of HK$216,000) for the AR E 2 R E BB EE431,0008 T (=2
carrying value of merchandise have been recognised during the T oF RAEBIEEFEEE216,0008 T) © B
year ended 31 March 2023. The impairment provision was made RNETRHGLFEELHEEEEETEHMS
for the slow moving of certain lighting and household furniture BAEEAEE  WIERREEE REBEERE
products as a result of change in consumer preferences. The TERERAAEEHECRELRS -

reversal of impairment loss mainly arose from sales of impaired
inventories during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BN FRIE & H 1th FE TR IR

2023 2022

—EB-=F —E—-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Trade receivables, net fE W FR I8 F5E 219 367
Deposits and other receivables e REMERKIE 6,748 8,078
Prepayments T IR 1,215 938
Total st 8,182 9,383
Less: non-current — rental deposits B IERNE - ERS (4,722) (2,540)
3,460 6,843

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The average credit

period on sales of goods is ranged from 0 — 30 days from invoice

date. At the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of the
trade receivables (net of impairment losses of HK$363,000 (2022:

HK$345,000), based on invoice date, is as follows:

ERRIBEBRTE - HEBYHFHEERAR
BEZ RN T0E30K - RiEHMAR - EU
A (HBR R A 18363,0008 0% (Z T ==
£ : 345,000/ 7T) ) IREE B HARRED AT :

2023 2022

—E=F —ET-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Within 30 days 30K 102 188
31 to 90 days 31£290K 63 77
91 to 180 days 91E 180K a4 70
Over 180 days HBiE180K 10 32
219 367

The Group assessed impairment loss based on the accounting policy
as stated in note 4(i)(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as
security or other credit enhancement over the trade receivables.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising

from trade receivables are set out in note 29(b).

LR BRI FEAG) (D AT 851 B & 5T BUR R R

BIRK o KB I 5 8 W FORE A [ 47

miEREMR N EMEEIL RN -

BFREBEEERR RS BESRFNEERR
o — S BN FE29() -

SHRPEEERERAT 2022/23FHK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. BN FEREMESFE

140

2023 2022

—EBZ=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THET
Trade payables P& 1~ XA 2,593 2,712
Accruals and other payables JE 5T FRIE K B b fE 3R IR 3,874 2,936
6,467 5,648

Trade payables are non-interest bearing. The Group is normally
granted credit terms ranging from 30 to 180 days. At the end of
reporting period, ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on

invoice date, is as follows:

BNRBERSTHE - AEE —KREN F3I0=E
180RZIEEH - K& MR - B IEIL S

ZRHNEREITAT

2023 2022

—EZ=H T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Within 30 days 30K A 1,630 1,436
31 to 60 days 31260X 578 635
61 to 90 days 61E290K 364 610
Over 90 days B 3E90K 21 31
2,593 2,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

22. ENERE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E—-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract liabilities arising from lighting and R B 2 R B TS E A HY
furniture business EHBE 1,181 1,268
2023 2022
—E_=F —E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Movements in contract liabilities: EHBENES :
Balance at the beginning of the year FYEH 1,268 1,058
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFEANEREVTAGLHEED
recognising revenue during the year that WAmEBRE DB FRD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (491) (395)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ARBEEFPMBANREMERN
advanced consideration received AHEEEM
from customers 404 605
Balance at the end of the year FRER 1,181 1,268

When the Group receives sales deposits from customers before
the delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract. Contract liabilities are recognised until the
goods are delivered and accepted by the customers. The unsatisfied
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one
year.

EAEEEINENMZARITFESR - &
ERRNENRBEBELESNEE -SHNEEERE
EMRXNEEPERZEER - MARERAH
BERHR —FRER -

SHRPEEERERAT 2022/23FHK
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
lessee)

The Group leases various offices, retail shops and warehouses
under lease agreements. The lease agreements are between one
and three years. The leases of certain retail shops comprise fixed
payments and variable payments over the lease terms (call for
additional rentals), which will be based on a certain percentage
of revenue of the operation being undertaken therein pursuant
to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective rental
agreement.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contracts to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

3 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing

was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and
security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bt 7% 3R 2= B 3+

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continues)

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as

lessee) (continued)

23. fHEEEw
HEXK2ME (EAEABEAN) @

Properties leased for own use 2023 2022
BERABEEWE —E-=F —EF-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 April RIUA—HZ#&e 20,349 20,653
Additions by 6,168 3,867
Interest expense B 924 761
Lease payments HERMK (16,405) (14,844)
Rent concession Hed=E (252) (387)
Effect on modification of lease term BETHE IR z 10,817 10,299
Balance at 31 March R=ZA=+—Hz##% 21,601 20,349

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflows for the
Group's lease arrangements amounted to HK$16,427,000 (2022:
HK$16,123,000).

BE-_Z-_=F=A=+—HILEE &~&£H
HEZHMIR S ML B85 516,427,000 T (=
T~ 4 116,123,000 7T) °

The future lease payments of the Group's leases (excluding AEBHEE(TEERBPEE) HAEEENK

short-term leases) were scheduled to repay as follows:

mETEIEM T

Future lease

payments Interest Present value
RREERE AE RE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 R=-B=-=F=A=+—8H
Not later than one year TIER—F 15,074 (1,001) 14,073
Later than one year but not later ER —FEBRNBRAE
than five years 7,839 (311) 7,528
22,913 (1,312) 21,601
As at 31 March 2022 R-BE-_—_HF=H=+-—H
Not later than one year TER—F 14,194 (436) 13,758
Later than one year but not later 3BR —FETENR AL F
than five years 6,715 (124) 6,591
20,909 (560) 20,349

SHRPEEERERAT 2022/23FHK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4r &

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as

lessee) (continued)

The analysis of the present value of future lease payments is as

follows:

175 ¥R I &

23. fHEEE W@

HEXB ME (FREBEAN) w

ARERMEERBEZREDIHTAOT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Current liabilities RBBE 14,073 13,758
Non-current liabilities MEEE 7,528 6,591
21,601 20,349
2023 2022
—EZ=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Short-term lease expense REEESH 270 1,598
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Tt AEaBEHEZZHAE
included in the measurement of lease liabilities &M 4 68
Credit relating to negative variable lease Tt AEBRBTEZAEH
payments not included in the measurement AEMZAEEER (KE)
of lease liabilities (note) (252) (387)
Aggregate undiscounted commitments for REREHE SR EERE
short-term leases - 33

MisE: RFBEENRAHEARHECOVID-195 4
WHESEE -

Note: Negative variable lease payments represent Covid-19 related rent

concessions reduced lease payments provided by lessors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are as

24. EFERIE
BEEHRBEERAFEZEHNT ¢

follows:

Unused tax Decelerated tax
losses depreciation Total

REA R
REER RIEFE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET FET
As at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H - 238 238

Credited/(Charged) to RiBFET A (F0K)

profit or loss (note 12) (KfaE12) 744 (12) 732
As at 31 March 2022 R—_ZTE-_—_F=H=+—H 744 226 970
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) A2 (M5E12) (30) (10) (40)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBE_=%=A=+—H 714 216 930

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$44,609,000 (2022: HK$39,324,000) available to
offset against the future taxable profit. A deferred tax asset of
HK$714,000 (2022: HK$744,000) has been recognised in respect of
tax losses of approximately HK$4,327,000 (2022: HK$4,509,000).
No deferred tax have been recognised in respect of the remaining
tax losses as it is uncertain whether future taxable profit will be
available for utilising the tax losses. Under current tax legislation,
tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

RBRERR  AEBBEAAHEBEEIE
44 609,000 7T (=& = = 4F : 39,324,000/% )
AL S R R E AR B i A1) o B B 494,327,000
TT (_i = = : 4,509,000/ 7T) K i 18 & 18
ERECERIEEETI40008 T (ZF = —F:
744,0007% 7T.) ° B T HERE AR 2R A9 JE 2R B i A
BRI AREETEEE - B3 R 5 FER T
BEBERELCHE - BIBRTHE  BHIEES
BRI ERHARE AL

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZBERYE EEREE
HK$'000
FE T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at M EE.01B T 2 LR
1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZT=_—FHWA—H-
31 March 2023 —EF=A=+—HK
—E-_=f#=ZA=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZEZ—FWmA—H -
31 March 2023 —E-—_F=ZA=+—HK
—E=F=A=+—H 451,035,713 4,510
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26. RESERVES 26. f#1E
Group rEH
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the REBRENFEESOFBEINEEERE
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BRF o
Share premium Iz 15 % B
The share premium account of the Group represents the premium REB 7RDBEERRKRLVEBEITRM S
arising from the issuance of shares at premium. H AR E -
Company PN/
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
% 15 5 8 eS| At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET FET FET
As at 1 April 2021 R—ZTE-_—FMWA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)

Profit and total comprehensive  4F 3% F [z & [ U 25 42 58

income for the year (note) (P 3%) - - -
As at 31 March 2021 and R-ZZE-_—F=A=+—H0K
1 April 2022 —E-—_FMA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Loss and total comprehensive FAEBEBREEWREE
income for the year (note) (HfE) = = =
As at 31 March 2023 R-_E_=%=A=+—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Note: Loss and total comprehensive income for the year amounted to M : FAGEEBEEEARZBEAE236E T (28
HK$236 (2022: profit and total comprehensive income for the year —oF ERNHEMNREARGZRTEASETT) o

amounted to HK$5).
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BERRS
The Group had the following material transactions with its related AEBREE T _=Fk_ZT-_—_F=A8
parties during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022: ST —HIEFERNTHEHBRFETTIERR
5
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEAEZHH
Key management personnel includes directors and senior TEEEAEROREENSREBRAE -BEX
management. The compensation paid or payable to key NENETEEEAENEEREHMWO T :

management personnel for employee services is shown below:

2023 2022
—EB-=F -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T

Salaries and other benefits e M EtiEF 8,503 6,657
Contributions on defined contribution M) € BB R IR 8 2 73X

retirement plan 126 134

8,629 6,791

28. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 28. HERE N L MEERSRE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EEE
Below summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by WEREDSHEENSHEBENHEIT :
category:
2023 2022
—EB-=fF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T F&T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: RHEXNATENSREE
Trade and other receivables FE WK IE K L fih FE W FRIE 6,967 8,445
Cash and bank balances R e RiRTT 9,938 13,855
16,905 22,300
Financial liabilities il h=N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: RBENATENSRAE
Trade and other payables JE - R 38 Ko E Ath JE < RRIE 6,467 5,648
Other financial instruments HttemTHE
Lease liabilities HEEE 21,601 20,349
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
including foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management procedures focus
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by key management under the
policies approved by the board of directors. The Group does not
have written risk management policies. However, the directors and
senior management of the Group meet regularly to identify and
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group's exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group is
exposed to are described below:

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the Euro (“EUR"), United States dollar (“USD") and
Renminbi (“RMB") against HKS.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, management considers that
there is no significant foreign currency risk between these
two currencies to the Group.

The Group's trade payables denominated in EUR and RMB
are in insignificant amount at the end of each of reporting
periods. The directors are of the opinion that the volatility of
the Group's results against change in exchange rate of EUR
and RMB would not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is performed.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk includes risks resulting from counter party default
and risks of concentration. The Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Most of the retail sales are made in cash or by credit cards.
In respect of sales on credit, the Group trades on credit only
with corporate customers who have an established trading
history with the Group. The Group has policies in place for
the control and monitoring of relevant credit risks. These
credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates.

As at 31 March 2023, the trade receivables from the five
largest debtors represented 33% (2022: 33%) of the total
trade receivables respectively, while the largest debtor
represented 8% (2022: 8%) of the total trade receivables
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

29. BF 75 B B 1R

(b)

EEER
EERRERHEFIENRRERES M
SIEMEAR AEEZEERREER
BEEKEZRRREMERKE &
BEEREGERR IREBEERAKHE
FEEzZEEERR -

HRARBOOEENRS A UEARE
ff-SEEHEMS  ARBEERAEE
BERPRSGELHNABAEPETREE
Ry e AEEERGKERHABERER
ROEK - WEEEFHEETREL B
EBNBHRAZE L RRE MR8
h ARERIFTFPZABENRER
BEMAEN 2 BRI

MR-ZE-_=F#=fF=+—B LL&BAE
A 2 BRI G FE W R T 48 5833% (=
T4 :33%) MEBEABEBAZEK
FIBAME R R ERES% (=T ==
8%) °

AEERENFRABHMEEERN S
BOURBEBEEEAERSL) FEEKERX
EEREE BRAKRENEEREER
BERITERAIRZTS 2 BAERE
XEFHEEZR BUBE-—FROAX
SETREPERE M ERERE
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. M5 A b E 2 w
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) %EE‘:@(@)

The following table provides information about the Group's TREHEERAERIR S -_=FE =
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at T —F=A=+—BRERKEME

31 March 2023 and 2022: RHEERRKTEREEBENER

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

2023 loss rate amount allowance
—E-=F FHERLE BERHEE BiEBE
HK$'000 HK$’000

% FTHET FET
Not yet due 7 #60 B 0.97 103 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days BHA1-180K 2.73 110 (3)
213 4)
Individual assessment 18 51 5 4 369 (359)
582 (363)

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

2022 loss rate amount allowance
T —F TEERE B b & FRRE A EiERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

% FET FE T

Not yet due 7 %60 A 0.53 189 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days #HI1-180K 1.34 149 (2)
338 (3)

Individual assessment & 7l 5T 374 (342)
712 (345)
Expected loss rate is estimated based on actual loss RHERLEEDREBEBEISFHNERER
experience over the past 5 years. The rate is adjusted to BER T o LR TEAR - AR U&=
reflect differences between economic conditions during FE S & HA R B OB AR © B AT AR R A
the period over which the historic data has been collected, R 7N £ B ) jE W Sk TE /) TE AR A B B R AR

current conditions and the Group's view of economic BRRZBENER -

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for trade receivables which is
measured under lifetime ECLs:

B IS b B2
(b) TE'EH % (&)

TRIIRE Bt E YR

ENzHEHEE

BEEMER BRI

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
— provision — individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEBEE 2HEBEE
18 - B 18 - @85l
TE FEAE
(EEERE) (EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET FET
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—FmA—Q 24 259 283
Impairment loss (reversed)/  JE{EEE (#m@)
recognised R (1) 83 62
At 31 March 2022 and R-_ZE-_—_F=H=+—H
1 April 2022 EZZTZ—_F1A—H 3 342 345
Impairment loss recognised 3 {8 &5 18 & 52 1 17 18
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-_=F=HA=+—H 4 359 363
The Group measured loss allowance for a trade deposit HRRBEERE  AEEZRHEASERN

with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$2,662,000
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs as it is considered
credit-impaired. The deposit was unsecured, interest free,
repayable in one year and included in trade and other
receivables. The loss allowance for ECLs is calculated by
reference to any historical default, current market condition
in relation to the debtor’s exposure and time value of
money where appropriate. The ECLs also incorporate
forward looking information with reference to general
macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability of
the debtors to settle the deposit. As at 31 March 2023,
the loss allowance for ECLs recognised on the trade
deposit amounted to approximately HK$2,662,000 (2022:
HK$1,077,000). Accordingly, ECLs on the trade deposit of
HK$1,585,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year. (2022: HK$1,077,000).

HEHEEFENSHETEREA

=1 ?\O

2,662,000 T E SiE R EEEE -

BeREER 28 AR-—FAEEYL
At A B UWORIR R B At FE W ROR - TR HRME

EERNERREGBN2ZEMBEED
HEBARREBNERHREEEE
MEE (WER) 8 - BHREEBEDT
%m)\ﬁﬁﬂ%’li;ﬁﬂ WBRERETEEY

ABEZSENNBBEEREMMR -
R—_F_=F=A=+—8"

WEHZ

CHANBHMEEERNERBEBOR

2,662,0005 7T (=

BIT) ° Bt -

= — —
= _

EoRemEHEERR
1,585,000 70 (=T = — 4 :

© 1,077,000

1,077,000

BT ERFERNAERDER °

ERAKEZERERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WIN

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

The credit risks on rental deposits are considered to be low
as they can be recovered by offsetting against the rental
payments.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable and creditworthy
banks.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities and financial instruments that are settled by
delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The cash management of all operating
entities is centralised, including the raising of funds to cover
expected cash demands. The Group’s objective is to maintain
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's
non-derivative financial liabilities and other financial
instruments, based on undiscounted cash flows and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

g A

SRR

29. B 75 B B 1R
(b) SERK @

(c)

HEZSHNERERAREFRE RER
BEREMHBA SN THD -

RehkAeFEYNEERRER R
RRHF T REEBRFMNIRT -

REBE < R

B E B R E AN R B RS E R E AR
NReAEtLEREEFESREBER
ERMTAZEEHREBERRER - A&H
EFEENRAREMEMNKE BE
EELRREBREREBEERETEARR
Bl FMERKEERZRESERE
THRARE BREEEESURNES
ReFR - AEEAZBERERERFESR
R UWhEEREREHNR
PESFKR -

TREINBERRAEERITEESR
EERAEMESRMIANBRTSREIHE
R Ty R A& B 7] BE 1% 2SR 5 &
FRAHREEREBEENABRARSRE

Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2023 on demand years years cash flows amount

R-BZ=% DE RUERHESE
=A=+-—H FEER 126 2-5F REHAE MREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TET THET

Trade and other e /I R EL A

payables &S 3RIE 6,467 - - 6,467 6,467
Lease liabilities HEAE 15,074 7,839 - 22,913 21,601
21,541 7,839 - 29,380 28,068
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. B E ke E B @
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (0 RBELER®
Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2022 on demand years years cash flows amount
RZZE== DRE REBR &
=A=1—H HEEK 1245 2-5%F mEAE fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FET FiET FET
Trade and other FEfTFRIA R E A
payables FE I 5RIB 5,648 - - 5,648 5,648
Lease liabilities HEEE 14,194 5,659 1,056 20,909 20,349
19,842 5,659 1,056 26,557 25,997
(d) Interest rate risk (d) R =
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and HARNEBYESE AN EEE &8
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are HIKARLSEBE S RENBM AT E
substantially independent of changes in market interest rate. T RSB E L E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3l 2% B 3%

30. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 30.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:

mERTRERMEE

METHELENABZHER

Lease liabilities (note 23) 2023 2022
HESE ([:E23) —E-=f& —E=-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEe 20,349 20,653
Changes from cash flows: e mas
Repayment of principal portion of BEHRERBZEART D
the lease liabilities (15,481) (14,090)
Repayment of interest portion of BERERBEZAMEI D
the lease liabilities (924) (754)
(16,405) (14,844)
Other changes: H b &
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 924 761
Increase in lease liabilities from entering AR5 R %5 5] 57 A8 & 1 3% hn
into new leases during the year HEARE 6,168 3,867
Rent concession HeEER (252) (387)
Effect on modification of lease term BEREBRR Y & 10,817 10,299
17,657 14,540
Balance at the end of the year FEARE 21,601 20,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% & B7 75 3 2% M1 5

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital
and to support the Group’s stability and growth.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group, to ensure optimal shareholder returns.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares, raise new debts or sells assets to reduce debt.

The total equity to total assets ratio at the end of reporting period
is as follows:

31.

B EE
ARBEZEAEERBENREARENHBEE
B AR IR IR GLE R B K A F 2R B 1R

T BRREEANSEBARD ”ﬁéﬁfzz@x
kXF BERBZIBEMHERERZEE

AEBEBEREREHARTREBEELRER  H
REBRAEBZARESTE  UHERHEER
FEREDR -

AEBEEEBEALE IRELERARNES N
HEEENRRSEEEFELAR SERX

HEBEERNGERE  AEEUREHEN TFRE
MRS MERREERN BTHK &
SERNE S o B B B AR D BT

RERSHMEERN RS RBHEELTEL
EMT

2023 2022
—E-=F = =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Total equity T B 20,200 27,045
Total assets BEBE 49,601 54,350
Total equity to total assets ratio AT A EAL R 0.41:1 0.50:1
ERPEEZRERAT 2022/23F#H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B7 75 3l 2% B 3%

32. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. XD BB E
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—Bo=fF -
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fff = FET TAT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RH B AR E 2,700 2,700
2,700 2,700
Current assets REBEE
Other receivable H b fE R IE 4 41
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERE 589 589
630 630
Total assets EEH#E 3,330 3,330
NET ASSETS EERE 3,330 3,330
Equity Ex
Share capital fi& A 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves &1 26 (1,180) (1,180)
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 3,330 3,330
On behalf of the Board
RERESTE
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (FFE]3&) Hue Kwok Chiu (& El &)
Director & % Director & %
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33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are as

33. fifB D RF1E
AEBR - T -_=F=ZA=+—HzZHWBERAF

AR A IR RR I R

follows: FIEMT
Issued and fully  Attributable
paid share equity interest held
Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BRETR AEEfBEN and place of operation
a8 MR,/ KL 2R A BRRE B RAER TEEBREERY
Top Triumph Global Limited BVI, 20 November 2013 Us$1 100% direct Investment holding
RERLES 1% 100%E # RERR
—Z-=f+-A=TH
Central United Global Limited BVI, 18 November 2010 Us$100 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE 1003 7T 100% REZR
S B RWAYE]
Elegant Chain Development Limited ~ BVI, 8 August 2008 Us$140 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE 1403 7T 100% REZR
—ZEN\ENANH
Top Investor Global Limited BVI, 11 November 2014 Us$1 100% indirect Investment holding
ABRAEE (ET 100% REZK
“Z-mE+—-A+—H
Central Sky Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 24 October 2003 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
RRERBRARA BB —ZT=F+A=1+mA 10757z 100% % Hong Kong
NESTERHES
E Lighting Group Limited Hong Kong, 4 January 2011 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
R —T——5—AWA 10,000/ 7T 100% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Element Lighting Design Limited Hong Kong, 11 May 2005 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
REARERAA BR —ZTHRERAT-A 107 7T 100% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Good Harvest Surplus Limited Hong Kong, 20 May 2011 HK$ 1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EERBRAA EF —E——FHA=1A 1% 100% and household furniture in

ERAKEEZERERARA

Hong Kong
RERTERMER LKA
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(Continued)

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

33. B A BFHBw

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3R 2= B 3+

Issued and fully  Attributable

paid share equity interest held
Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BETR AEEfBEN and place of operation
L HEMARL/ KL 2K A BRRAE EiERAER TEEBREEMY
RS Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 23 February 2009 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
& ZEENE-A=T=H 10,0005 7T 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
228 Inc Limited Hong Kong, 6 November 2013 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
EE —E-=F+-AKA 10,0005 7T 100% ) # Hong Kong
REETERMER
Culture Art Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
XEBRDA B ZT-METARA 15 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Major Will Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
B ZT-METARA 15 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
ELG Operations Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Sourcing of lighting products
ERAEERERERAA B ZT-METATHA 15 100% ) # and household furniture
REEHERRRE
ELG Management Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
ERAEEEEERAA B ZT-METATHA 1T 100% ) # services
REEE RS
Urban Lifestyle Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZT-MET-AZTAB 1En 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Lighting Connected Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZT-MET-AZTAB 1En 100% ) # and household furniture in
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 33. B A B EBEw

(Continued)

Issued and fully  Attributable

paid share equity interest held
Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BETR AEEfBEN and place of operation
A1 ML,/ KL 2R A BRRAE iR A ER TEEBREEMY
Real Luck Limited Hong Kong, 1 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BE ZT-MET=A—H 1% 100% ) # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Trendmall Group Limited Hong Kong, 2 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Investment holding
BE —Z-WE+-AZH BT 100% M REZR
Trendmall Gallery Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
W EEE AR AR & ZZT-NET-ATAHA 1% 100% ) # services
RHER RS
Trendmall International Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Wholesale of tableware and
& ZZT-NET-ATAHA 1% 100% ) # its related products and
international trade
HERARHEBERR
Note: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of Hizk : MBARRNERI EERITEMBBEES -

the year.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B 75 &

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE

160

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —E-- —E-—F =% —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THx THT THT THT
OPERATING RESULTS RexE
Revenue EEH 78,927 83,891 82,227 69,515 78,765
Cost of sales HEKA (36,619) (37,652) (38,173) (32,752) (36,399)
Gross profit e 42,308 46,239 44,054 36,763 42,366
Other income, gain and losses He A - Wik REE (841) 305 2,147 (1,320) (21,483)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHHZ (28,318) (27,422) (23,005) (25,925) (28,863)
Administrative and other expenses TBREMRY (17,094) (15,373) (14,169) (13,790) (16,650)
Expected credit losses recognised CRAERRNEREEESE
on financial assets (1,603) (1,139) (121) 4 (55)
Finance costs BB AR (924) (761) (642) (694) =
(Loss)/Profit before tax BB A (B8) /%7 (6,472) 1,849 8,264 (4,962) (24,685)
Income tax (expense)/credit fiEs (Ax) /% (373) 546 (107) 30 438
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive  &72 5 & AL
income for the year attributable to ~ E /& (F#8) /&7
the owners of the Company R2EREAE (6,845) 2,395 8,157 (4,932) (24,247)
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZBC=F g2 —T--f e ke 33 “ZT-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THL THL THT THL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Total assets BEHE 49,601 54,350 53,974 35,609 29,069
Total liabilities BESE (29,401) (27,305) (29,324) (19,116) (7,644)
Net assets BEEFE 20,200 27,045 24,650 16,493 21,425
Total equity ERER 20,200 27,045 24,650 16,493 21,425
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